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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW 
 

Dear Shareholders, 

 

I am pleased to present Nzuri Copper’s 2019 Annual Report.  

 

During the year, the Company announced that it has entered into a binding Scheme Implementation Deed (SID) 

with Xuchen International Limited, a subsidiary of Chengtun Mining Group Co., Ltd. (collectively ‘Chengtun’), a 

diversified Shanghai Stock Exchange-listed metal mining, trading and industrial group, under which it is proposed 

that Chengtun will acquire all of the issued shares in Nzuri by way of an Australian Court-approved Scheme of 

Arrangement, for an offer consideration of $0.37 per share in cash (the ‘Scheme’). In August 2019, shareholders 

of the Company approved the Scheme and, as at the date of this report, all conditions precedent, other than final 

administrative approval from the State Administration of Foreign Exchange in China, have been received. It is 

anticipated the Scheme will be finalised imminently, with an implementation date expected of 29th of November 

2019. 

 

The acquisition proposal from Chengtun follows extensive discussions between the parties dating back to 2017 

regarding the potential for off-take, project funding and other forms of strategic cooperation and investment. 

Chengtun is an existing major player in the Kolwezi region of the DRC, having completed construction of a US$150 

million SX-EW processing plant with a cobalt hydroxide circuit in late 2018, which is scalable and has been 

designed to double in capacity. The Kalongwe deposit offers significant strategic and technical synergies with 

Chengtun’s existing operations and processing infrastructure in the region.  

 

 The board is pleased to have secured the Scheme as a cash consideration transaction, providing a certain cash 

outcome for shareholders for their shares at a substantial premium to the historical trading price of Nzuri shares. 

 

 
 

Tom Borman 

Chairman 
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HIGHLIGHTS 

 

Corporate 

 

The Company entered into a Scheme Implementation Deed with Chengtun, whereby Chengtun will acquire all of 

the issued shares in Nzuri by way of an Australian Court-approved Scheme of Arrangement, for an offer 

consideration of $0.37 per share in cash. The remaining conditions precedent to the Scheme are expected to 

satisfied imminently with the indicative timetable for the implementation expected to be: 

 

 

Approval Hearing Monday, 18 November 2019 

Effective Date  

Last day of trading in Nzuri shares on ASX 

Tuesday, 19 November 2019 

Record Date for determining entitlements to the Scheme consideration Friday, 22 November 2019 

Implementation Date for the Scheme  

Payment of the Scheme consideration to Nzuri shareholders 

Friday, 29 November 2019 

 

Kalongwe Copper-Cobalt Development Project  

 

• Construction of a site access road from the nearby Kamoa site was completed in 2019 and now provides all-

weather access to the Kalongwe site significantly improving access for current and future activities.  

• Approval received from the DRC Government of the duty exoneration list which provides substantial duty 

exoneration of imported goods 

• Completed SXEW and DMS variability testwork program  

• Completed a Front engineering design (FEED) program for project development of a dense media separation 

plant (DMS) 

 

Social, Community and Government 
 
• Completion of the required 5-yearly update, in line with the new DRC Mining Code, of the Project’s 

Environmental and Social Impact Study (ESIS) and Environmental and Social Management Plans (ESMP). 

• Completed and submitted the newly required Cahier De Charge (project social Commitments) per the new 

mining code.  

• Assistance in the first regional immunisation program for poliomyelitis and measles vaccination, immunising 

324 children in 8 villages from the region surrounding the project.  

• The Company built a new bridge to assist with community access after a review of routes around the project 

perimeter with local chiefs 
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Exploration 

• The Company completed the additional earn-in requirements to take its interest in the Fold & Thrust Belt Joint 
Venture (FTBJV) to 90% with its joint venture partner Ivanhoe Mines (TSX: IVN). 

• The Company completed the transfer of the legal and beneficial ownership of the five FBTJV exploration 
permits (PR688, PR689, PR690, PR701 and PR702) held by Ivanhoe Mines Limited to the Company’s 
subsidiary, Regal Exploration DRC SASU  

• 2019 exploration programme initiated following planning and prioritisation of targets in the March quarter 
of2019 

• Design of the Monwezi 2 drill plan completed 

• Early stage exploration works commenced, including mapping, pitting and trenching at seven targets 

 

OPERATIONS REVIEW 

 

Kalongwe Copper-Cobalt Development 

Project  

 
The Kalongwe Copper-Cobalt Project (“Kalongwe”, the 

“Project”) is the Company’s flagship asset, a significant 

high-grade oxide near-surface copper-cobalt resource 

offering a low-CAPEX pathway to near-term production and 

cash-flow.  

 

Kalongwe is located in the Lualaba Province of the DRC 

and is situated towards the western end of the world-class 

Central African Copperbelt, less than 15km from where 

Ivanhoe Mines Ltd (TSX: IVN, “Ivanhoe”) has announced a 

second world-class copper discovery at Kakula.  

 

The Kalongwe Project hosts a near-surface JORC 

resource of 302,000t of contained copper (2.7% Cu grade) 

and 42,700t of contained cobalt (0.62% Co grade) as 

predominantly oxide ore (see ASX announcement of 5 

February 2015 for further details). 

 

Kalongwe Stage 2 Metallurgical Leaching 

Testwork 

An extensive metallurgical testwork program was 

undertaken during the year at CORE in Brisbane. This work 

has provided key grinding and reagent consumption 

parameters to for SX-EW processing of the Kalongwe 

Project ore. In addition, DMS variability testwork was 

completed per DFS recommendations from Lycopodium 
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Construction of Site Access Road 
 
During the year, the Company completed the construction of ~28km of a compacted laterite access road to the 

Kalongwe site. The new road joins the  existing road network built by Ivanhoe for the Kamoa site and provides all-
weather access to Kalongwe significantly improving site access for all current exploration and future development 
activities.  
 
Road works were completed over a 14 week period with some 46,000 manhours expended using local contractors 
and ahead of the 2019 wet season.  
 
 

Project Exoneration List 
 
During the year the Company received approval from the DRC Government of its formal application for duty 

exoneration of imported items, application for the exoneration was submitted in late 2018. 

 

Per the DRC mining code articles #225  & 232 the company was able to apply for customs duty and IBP exoneration 

for goods imported into the DRC (Preferential Regime) based on a submitted list compiled by the company. Without 

the preferential regime/approved list, customs duty and IBP charges add 30+% to the cost of imported goods. The 

Companies newly approved list for the Kalongwe Project (KMSA) reduces duties to either 2%, 5% or 10% as 

detailed per article #232 of the DRC mining code.  

 

Community & Social 
 

A 5-yearly update was completed in line with the new DRC Mining Code of the Project’s Environmental and Social 

Impact Study (ESIS) and Environmental and Social Management Plans (ESMP) and has submitted to the Cadastre 

Minier (CAMI) for approval. 

 

Nzuri also  completed and submitted the newly required Cahier De Charge (Project Social Commitments) per the 

new mining code. Nzuri is only the second company to complete this exhaustive process since the new code was 

introduced in 2018. The process included considerable and wide-ranging consultation with the community, 

government, government appointed committee’s and NGO’s. All documentation is currently under review by a 

committee appointed by the regional mining minister and chaired by the head of the Provincial Mining Division in 

accordance with the code 

 

The Company assisted the coordinator of Kanzenze Health Zone by providing vehicles, personnel including the 

Kalongwe site doctor and logistical support as part of the first regional immunisation program for poliomyelitis and 

measles vaccination. In total 324 children in 8 villages were immunised in the region surrounding the project. This 

initiative and Nzuri’s support in facilitating the program, was very well received by the local community and the 

Kanzenze Health Authority given that the program represented almost 40% of their annual budget  

 

The Company has built a new bridge to assist with community access after a review of routes around the project 

perimeter with local chiefs.  
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Exploration 
 

Fold and Thrust Belt Exploration JV (“FBTJV”) 

The Fold and Thrust Belt Joint Venture (“FTBJV”) with Ivanhoe Mines, which is managed by Nzuri covers an area 

of the Western Lufilian Arc, a fold belt that contains the world’s largest cobalt endowment and some of its richest 

copper deposits. The project includes numerous high-quality exploration targets and exploration over most of the 

ground is at a greenfields stage.  

 

On 7th of October 2019, the Company announced that it completed the transfer of the five exploration permits 

(PR688, PR689, PR690, PR701 and PR702) (together, FBTJV Permits) held by Ivanhoe Mines Limited to Regal 

Exploration DRC SASU, a subsidiary of the Company. Nzuri now owns a 90% legal and beneficial interest in the 

FBTJV Permits, with the remainder 10% held by Ivanhoe Mines Limited. 

 

As the Company has been working towards the completion of the Scheme for much of the year, exploration 

activities have been focussed on early stage exploration works including mapping, pitting and trenching with the 

aim of developing a pipeline of drill-ready targets. A summary of the key 2019 targets is provided in Figure 1. 

 

 
Figure 1: Location of the various targets within FTBJV permits (black polygons) and notable known deposits in the 

immediate surrounds overlayed on a regional geological map 

 

Monwezi East: 

 

The Monwezi East target corresponds to the area lying to the immediate north-east of PE12198 (the Kalongwe 

deposit mine permit). The target is considered to be prospective for typical Congolese-type fragment hosted 
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copper-cobalt mineralisation and lies in the same NE-SW trending undifferentiated Roan corridor as the Kalongwe 

deposit. 

 

Monwezi 7: 

 

Monwezi 7 is a well-established cobalt target located ~5.5 km from Kalongwe which has consistently delivered 

encouraging cobalt intercepts from trench and drill hole assays. The target is defined by a Roan diapir hosting 

clustered cobalt enriched Mines Series ecailles. 

 

Kambundji East: 

 

The Kambundji East target is a Mines Series ecaille hosted copper target with visible copper-oxide mineralisation. 

The target lies along the highly prospective Menda structure, which underpins the potential to improve the scale of 

the known mineralisation. 

 

Mulonda Funda: 

 

Mulonda Funda is a grass-roots target defined by polymetallic soil geochemical anomalism. The target is located 

~8.8 km north of Ivanhoe’s Kengere deposit, a known Zn-Cu-Pb deposit. Mulonda Funda is understood to be 

prospective for structurally controlled Zn-Cu-Pb mineralisation analogous to Kipushi and Kengere. 

 

Mamba: 

 

The Mamba target is centred on a Roan diapir flanked to the south by the Kamilongwe fault – a major regional 

structure known to be associated with copper-cobalt mineralisation elsewhere in the Kolwezi District of the 

Congolese Copperbelt.  

 

Kambundji Regional: 

 

The Kambundji Regional target covers a narrow east-west corridor that is understood to coincide with the highly 

prospective Menda structure. 

 

 

Monwezi 2: 

 

The Monwezi 2 target is located ~3 km southwest of the Kalongwe deposit and is centred on a copper mineralised 

Mines Series ecaille that offers attractive potential for a near-term satellite Resource to Kalongwe. 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Nzuri Copper Limited (Nzuri or the 

Company) and the entities it controlled for the year ended 30 June 2019. Throughout the report the Consolidated 

entity is referred to as the Group. 

 

Principal activities 
 

During the year, the principal continuing activities of the Group was focused on the exploration and pre-

development activities at the Group’s high-grade copper and cobalt projects in the Katangan Copperbelt of the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC). 
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Review of exploration and pre-development activities 
 

Corporate 

 
The following significant transactions and events occurred during the financial year: 

 

- Issue of 2,188,248 ordinary shares at $0.255 per share under the Share Purchase Plan on 5 July 2018; 
- Issue of 1,250,000 unlisted options exercisable at 0.2492 each on or before 25 July 2028 as part of the 

Company’s Long Term Incentives plan; 
- Cancellation of 1,000,000 unlisted employee options exercisable at $0.2965 each on or before 10 March 

2028; 
- Issue of 1,503,031 shares at $0.0255 per share to Tembo Capital on 16 July 2018 on the conversion of its 

convertible loan for $2,933,273;  
- Issue of 1,403,760 unlisted options to Executive Directors of the Company on 16 July 2018. The options 

were issued for nil cash consideration and are exercisable at $0.3395 each on or before 16 July 2028. 
These options were granted in March 2018, subject to shareholder approval, and were issued following 
the approval on 16 July 2018. Exercise of the options is subject to the satisfaction of vesting conditions; 
and 

- On 27 February 2019, the Company announced it had entered into a Scheme Implementation Deed for 
the cash acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Nzuri by Xuchen International Limited, a subsidiary of 
Chengtun Mining Group Co. Ltd (collectively ‘Chengtun’), at a price of $0.37 per Nzuri share. The 
acquisition is proposed to be completed by way of a Scheme of Arrangement (the ‘Scheme’). 

 

Legal claims 
 

During October 2018 the Company advised that it had settled its ongoing dispute with Eucalyptus Gold Mines Pty 

Ltd (EGM) (Supreme Court of WA proceeding CIV 1885 of 2016) and with EGM and Murray James Longman 

(Supreme Court of WA proceeding CIV 2675 of 2017), prior to trial. Both of these claims were settled in full. Nzuri 

agreed to pay a cash settlement amount, plus costs in respect to proceeding CIV 2675 of 2017. The settlement 

amount and costs are not considered to be material to Nzuri and are confidential. The settlement amounts were 

paid in full in July 2019 and did not have any material impact on Nzuri’s financial position. This marks the resolution 

of the second of three legal matters brought against Nzuri in respect of its historical prior project interests. Nzuri 

intends to defend the last remaining claim with the same vigour as matters settled to date. Potential contingent 

liability in relation to the remaining claim is disclosed at note 22.  

 

Financial review 
 

RESULTS 

 

The consolidated loss after tax of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2019 was $4,483,919  (2018: $3,183,204). 

 

The Groups activities during the year focused on pre-development engineering and site activities at its Kalongwe 

Copper-Cobalt development project and an exploration programme at the Fold and Thrust Belt exploration JV 

project.  

 

ASSETS 

 

Total assets increased by 5% or $2,267,385 during the year to $50,676,421 The increase was largely due to 

investment in exploration and evaluation asset at the Kalongwe Project and the Fold and Thrust Belt JV project 

during the period.. 
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LIABILITIES 

 

Total liabilities increased during the period by 26% or $1,822,116 to $8,859,776. The increase was predominantly 

due to the draw down of a loan of $5,000,000 from Chengtun, as interim financing for the Company the Scheme 

is being completed. 

 

EQUITY 

 

Total equity increased by 1.1% or $445,269 to $41,816,645 due to a small rights issue and private placements 

from Tembo Group during the year, offset against the current period loss. 

 

SHAREHOLDER RETURNS 

 

The Company did not declare any dividends during the period as it does not currently have any producing assets.   
 

Liquidity and capital resources 
 

The Group’s principal source of liquidity as at 30 June 2019 is cash and cash equivalents of $2,296,242 (2018: 

$9,445,730). This is expected to cover the company’s funding for the current 2019 financial period up to its 

expected sale to Chengtun,. anticipated to be completed in October 2019. Following this, it is expected that 

Chengtun will continue to fund the company. 

 
Shares and options 
 

As at 30 June 2019 the Company had 295,905,492 fully paid Shares and 12,274,230 unlisted Share Options on 

issue.  

 
SHARES 

 

A total of 13,691,279 shares were issued during the year via share placements and convertible loan conversion.  

 

A detailed breakdown of share movements for the period is shown in note 14(a) of the financial statements. 

 

OPTIONS 

 

During the year 1,250,000 unlisted options were issued as an incentive to employees. 1,000,000 unvested out of 

the money options were cancelled during the year. 

 

A detailed breakdown of option movements for the period is shown in note 14(b) of the financial statements. 

 
Dividends 
  

There were no dividends paid or declared during the current or previous financial year. 

 

Significant changes in the state of affairs  
 

On 27 February 2019, the Company announced it had entered into a Scheme Implementation Deed for the cash 

acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Nzuri by Xuchen International Limited, a subsidiary of Chengtun Mining 

Group Co. Ltd (collectively ‘Chengtun’), at a price of $0.37 per Nzuri share. The acquisition is proposed to be 
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completed by way of a Scheme of Arrangement (the ‘Scheme’) and is expected to be completed by November  

2019. 

 

Risk management  
 

The Board is responsible for identifying business risks and implementing actions to manage those risks and 

corporate systems to assure quality. The Board delegates these tasks to management who provide the Board with 

periodic reports identifying areas of potential risks and the safeguards in place to efficiently manage material 

business risks.  

 

Strategic and operational risks are reviewed at least annually as part of the forecasting and budgeting process. 

The Chief executive officer and Chief financial officer have provided assurance in writing to the Board that they 

believe that the Company’s material business risks are being managed effectively.  

 

The Chief executive officer and Chief financial officer have also provided assurance in writing to the Board that the 

Company’s financial reporting, risk management and associated compliance and controls have been assessed 

and are operating effectively so far as they relate to the financial report. 

 

Significant events since the end of the financial year  
 

Subsequent to June 30, the Company announced that it had been advised by Chengtun that there were expected 

to be delays in receiving the regulatory approvals in the People’s Republic of China (PRC Regulatory Approvals) 

required under the Scheme. As a result, the Company adjourned its scheme meeting of shareholders which was 

scheduled to be held on 8th of July 2019, until 19th of August 2019. As a result of this delay, the Company also 

announced on 18 July 2019 that it had amended its loan and facility agreement with Chengtun to provide the 

Company with additional advances under the agreement of up to A$2,000,000 in the following tranches:  

 

• A$800,000 – on or about 1 August 2019;  

• A$700,000 – on or about 1 September 2019; and  

• A$500,000 – on or about 1 October 2019, and only payable in the event that the Scheme is not implemented on 

or before 30 September 2019.  

 

Chengtun also agreed to defer the maturity date of the loan until 26 February 2020, to accommodate the delay in 

the Scheme timetable and the higher aggregate loan amount.  

 

As at the date of this Directors report, an additional A$1,500,000 has been drawn by the Company since 30 June 

2019 under this agreement. Tembo Capital has similarly agreed to defer the maturity date of its loan until 26 

February 2020.  The Company confirms that no amounts have been drawn down under the Tembo Capital loan 

as of the date of this report. A supplementary disclosure to the Scheme Booklet was issued to shareholders of the 

Company on the 1st of August 2019 setting out these changes. 

 

The shareholders meeting to approve the Scheme of Arrangement was held by the Company on 19th of August 

2019 where the Scheme was approved to proceed by Shareholders. The Scheme remains subject to the receipt 

of the PRC Regulatory Approvals, and the completion of a permit transfer process in the Democratic Republic of 

the Congo.  

 

On 5th of September 2019, the Company provided a further update to the market on the status of the Scheme of 

Arrangement. Nzuri requested the Supreme Court of Western Australia (Court) adjourn the Court hearing for the 

approval of the Scheme (Approval Hearing) and the Court made order granting his request and adjourning the 

Approval Hearing until 2.15pm (WST) on Friday, 11 October 2019.  
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The updated indicative timetable for the Scheme as at the date of this Directors Report is as follows:  

 

Approval Hearing Friday, 11 October 2019  

Effective Date Last day of trading in Nzuri shares on ASX Monday, 14 October 2019  

Record Date for determining entitlements to the Scheme consideration Thursday, 17 October 2019  

Implementation Date for the Scheme Payment of the Scheme consideration Thursday, 24 October 2019 

 

The above dates are indicative only. The conditions precedent to the Scheme must be either satisfied or waived 

prior to the Approval Hearing. Any changes to the above timetable will be announced through ASX and notified on 

the Nzuri website. 

 

Likely developments and expected results 
 

As noted on 27 February 2019, the Company announced it had entered into a Scheme Implementation Deed for 

the cash acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Nzuri by Xuchen International Limited, a subsidiary of Chengtun 

Mining Group Co. Ltd (collectively ‘Chengtun’), at a price of $0.37 per Nzuri share. The acquisition is proposed to 

be completed by way of a Scheme of Arrangement (the ‘Scheme’) and is expected to be completed by November 

2019. 

 

Environmental regulation and performance 
 

The Group’s operations are not subject to any significant Australian environmental laws. The activities of the 

Group’s 85% owned subsidiary Kalongwe Mining SA’s in the DRC, are subject to local environmental laws, 

regulations and permit conditions. There have been no known breaches of environmental laws or permit conditions 

while conducting operations in the DRC during the year.  

 
Indemnification and insurance of directors and officers 
 

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the 

Company, the Company Secretary and all executive officers of the Company and of any related body corporate 

against a liability incurred as a Director, Secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations 

Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.  

 
Corporate governance 
 

The Board of Nzuri Copper Limited is committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance. 

The Company has reviewed its corporate governance practices against the Corporate Governance Principles and 

Recommendations (3rd edition) published by the ASX Corporate Governance Council.  

 

The Company’s Corporate governance statement is current as at 28 September 2019 and has been approved by 

the board. The statement reflects the corporate governance practices in place throughout the year ended 30 

June 2019. The Company’s Corporate Governance statement is located on the Company’s website at 

http://nzuricopper.com.au/corporate-governance-statement  

 

Diversity 
The Group strives to be an equal opportunity employer and we will not discriminate against prospective 

employees based on gender or any other non-skill related characteristic. We pride ourselves on the diversity of 

our staff and encourage suitably qualified young people, women, people from cultural minorities and people with 

disabilities to apply for positions.  

http://nzuricopper.com.au/corporate-governance-statement
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Whilst efforts will be made to identify suitably qualified female candidates and candidates from a diversity of 

backgrounds when seeking to fulfill positions, the Company does not believe it is meaningful, nor in the best 

interests of shareholders to set formal targets for the composition of employees based on gender or any other 

non-skill related characteristic nor detailed policies in this regard.  

 

The Board has established a policy regarding diversity and details of the policy are available on the Company’s 

website. 

 

Gender Composition  2019 2019 2018 2018 
   Female Male Female Male 
Board   - 100% - 100% 
Executive   33% 67% - 100% 
Group   10% 90% 10% 90% 
 

Non-audit services 
 

Non-audit services provided by the Group’s auditor BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd during the year ended 30 June 2019 

is shown at Note 26 of the financial statements. The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services, 

during the year by the auditor is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by 

the Corporation Act 2001. The nature and scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that auditor 

independence was not compromised. 

 

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditors of the Group, its 
related practices and non-related audit firms: 
 
Audit and other assurance services  2019  2018 

  $  $ 

Audit and review   46,665  33,032 

Other   -  23,998 

  46,665  57,030 

Non-audit services     

Corporate advice  94,408  - 

Tax compliance   9,300  39,301 

Tax advice  12,546  - 

  116,254  39,301 

Total remuneration of BDO firms  162,919  96,331 

 

Auditors’ independence declaration 
 

The auditors’ independence declaration is set out on page 22 and forms part of the Directors’ report for the year 

ended 30 June 2019. 

 

 

 

 

Information on directors 
 

The following information is current as at the date of this report. 

 

TOM BORMAN – Non-Executive Chairman 

Experience and expertise Mr Borman was appointed to the board on 1 March 2018 and is a 
respected and highly experienced global mining executive who served 



 

WWW.NZURICOPPER.COM.AU  

 

12 

more than 11 years working for the BHP Billiton Group in various senior 
managerial roles in strategy and business development, including serving 
as the project manager for the merger integration transaction between 
BHP Limited and Billiton. His wide-ranging experience in project 
development spans a range of commodities and countries across Africa, 
including the DRC, with previous roles including as Vice President, 
Strategy and Business Development and Chief Commercial Officer of BHP 
Billiton’s Diamond Division between 2003 and 2006. Before this, he held 
other senior roles within BHP Billiton including Chief Financial Officer of 
QNI Pty Ltd and Financial Manager and Assistant Group Controller with 
the Billiton Group in the Netherlands. After leaving BHP Billiton in 2006, Mr 
Borman joined Warrior Coal Investments (Proprietary) Limited, where he 
formed part of the executive team which established and consolidated the 
portfolio of assets which became the Optimum Group of companies. 
Optimum listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange in 2010 and was 
subsequently acquired by Glencore for R8.5 billion in March 2012. 

Other current directorships Orion Mineral Ltd 

Former directorships in last 3 
years 

Nil 

Special responsibilities Chairman 

Interests in shares and options Fully paid ordinary shares  100,000 

Unlisted options 945,000 

MARK ARNESEN - Executive Director 

Experience and expertise Mr Arnesen was appointed to the Board on 12 August 2016 as an Executive 
director. 
 

Mr Arnesen has extensive expertise in the structuring and negotiation of 
finance for major resource projects. He is a Chartered Accountant with over 
20 years of experience in the international resources industry, including a 
role with the Billiton/Gencor group of companies where he was a corporate 
Treasurer from 1996 to 1998. In 2000, Mr Arnesen joined Ashanti Goldfields 
Company Ltd as Managing Director - International Treasury and held the 
position until 2004. From 2004 until 2006, Mr Arnesen worked with Equinox 
Minerals Ltd and put in place the Lumwana project financing. In 2006, he 
joined Moto Goldmines Ltd (the Kibali Project in the DRC) as the Financial 
Director and held the position until the company was taken over by Randgold 
Resources Ltd (and held through a joint venture with AngloGold Ashanti Ltd) 
in late 2009. Mr Arnesen has been a Non-Executive Director of Centamin 
since 2011 and is also the sole director of ARM Advisors Pty Ltd. Previously 
he served on the boards of Gulf Industrials Ltd, Natasa Mining Ltd and Asian 
Mineral Resources. Mr Arnesen has a Bachelor of Commerce and Bachelor 
of Accounting from the University of the Witwatersrand. 

Other current directorships Non-executive director of Centamin plc 

Former directorships in last 3 
years 

Nil 

Special responsibilities Chief Executive Officer 

Interests in shares and options Fully paid ordinary shares  5,389,808 

Unlisted options 2,701,880 

ADAM SMITS - Executive Director 

Experience and expertise Mr Smits was appointed to the Board on 14 November 2016 as an executive 
director. 
 

Mr Smits is a Mechanical Engineer with a successful 20 year career across 
Australia and for the past 10 years in francophone West Africa where he 
has held a variety of project development and operational roles, most 
recently guiding the Sissingue project in Côte d’Ivoire (owned by Perseus 
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Mining Ltd) to construction commencement. An experienced and 
successful project director, Mr Smits led the successful DFS through to 
development of Mineral Deposits Ltd’s US$650M Grand Côte mineral 
sands project and played a pivotal role in the US$330M Sabodala Gold 
Mine (now owned by Teranga Gold Corporation). Mr Smits has also held 
roles with Placer Dome Asia Pacific and Lycopodium Minerals. 
 

Other current directorships Nil 

Former directorships in last 3 
years 

Nil 

Special responsibilities Chief Operating Officer 

Interests in shares and options Fully paid ordinary shares  83,412 

Unlisted options 2,701,880 

PETER RUXTON - Non-Executive Director 

Experience and expertise Dr Ruxton was appointed to the Board on 17 February 2015 as a Non-
executive director and acted as Chairman on a frequent basis until assuming 
the role on a permanent basis in November 2016. 
 

Dr. Ruxton has held a number of Directorships with numerous private, 
ASX, TSX.V, AIM, JSE, OTCBB and AMEX listed companies.  He has 
served on the boards of two DRC focused exploration and mining 
companies in recent years. Dr. Ruxton trained as a Geologist at the 
University of Leeds, UK where he obtained a BSc in Geological Sciences 
and a PhD in Economic Geology, before going on to complete his MBA at 
the University’s of Manchester and Bangor.  Peter’s PhD thesis focused on 
sedimentary copper deposits in Namibia and Botswana. Dr. Ruxton is a 
Professional Member of the Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Materials 
(MIMM) and is a Fellow of both the Geological Society of London (FGS) 
and the Society of Economic Geologists (FSEG).  In addition, he is a 
Member of the Association of Mining Analysts (AMA). 
 

Other current directorships Nil 

Former directorships in last 3 
years 

Nil 

Special responsibilities Competent person 

Interests in shares and options Nil 
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HONGLIANG CHEN - Non-Executive Director 

Experience and expertise Mr Chen was appointed as a non-executive director on 1 February 2018. 
Mr Chen is a nominee of the Huayou Cobalt Group, which he joined in May 
2002, and is currently serving as both the Director and General Manager of 
Zhejiang Huayou Cobalt Co. Ltd and the Executive Director of Huayou 
International Mining (Hong Kong) Limited. Previously, Mr Chen has worked 
at the Tongxiang Branch of Agricultural Bank of China, Tongxiang 
Securities Department of Zhejiang Trust and Investment Corporation of 
Agricultural Bank of China, Tongxiang Branch of Shenyin & Wanguo 
Securities Co. Lt and the Tongxiang Huaxin Chemical Factory. 

Other current directorships Non-Executive Director of ASX-listed lithium explorer AVZ Minerals Limited 
since August 2017 

Former directorships in last 3 
years 

Nil 

Special responsibilities Nil 

Interests in shares and options Nil 

 

EAN ALEXANDER - Non-Executive Director 

Experience and expertise Mr Alexander was appointed to the board on 3 April 2018. Mr Alexander is 
a nominee of Tembo Capital Mining Fund LP and has over 15 years of 
corporate finance, investment, and operational experience across a variety 
of sectors. Mr Alexander has developed business valuation, M&A, deal 
structuring, due diligence, and asset management skills with a focus on the 
Asia-Pacific region. Mr Alexander’s financial experience has been gained 
through investment banking, private equity, and direct industry experience. 
He has experience operating across a broad range of jurisdictions 
including both developed and emerging markets.  

Other current directorships Nil 

Former directorships in last 3 
years 

Nil 

Special responsibilities Nil 

Interests in shares and options 675,470 unlisted options 

 

Meetings of directors  
 

The following table sets out the number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) held 

during the financial year and the number of meetings attended by each Director while they were a Director or 

committee member. 

 Board Meetings 

Directors Eligible to Attend Attended 

Tom Borman 9 9 

Mark Arnesen 9 9 

Adam Smits 9 9 

Peter Ruxton 9 9 

Hong Liang Chen 9 8 

Ean Alexander 9 9 

 
 

Committee membership 
 

During the year the Group did not set up separate Committees. The Board carried out the duties that would 

ordinarily be carried out by the Nomination, Remuneration and Audit and Risk management Committees.  
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Remuneration report (Audited) 
 

This remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2019 outlines the remuneration arrangements of the Group 

in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (the Act) and its regulations. This information 

has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Act.  

 

The remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for key management personnel (KMP) who are 

defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major 

activities of the Group, directly and indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the parent 

company. For the purposes of this report, the term executive includes executive directors and other senior 

management of the Group. The following persons acted as key management personnel of the Company during or 

since the end of the financial year: 

 
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT  
Non-executive directors  
Peter Ruxton Non-executive director (Tembo Nominee) 
Hong Liang Chen Non-executive director (Huayou Nominee) 
Tom Borman  Non-executive Chairman 
Ean Alexander Non-executive director (Tembo Nominee) 
  
Executive directors  
Mark Arnesen  Executive director and Chief Executive Officer 
Adam Smits  Executive director and Chief Operating Officer 
  
Other executives  
Hannah Hudson (Appointed 1 July 2018) Company secretary and Chief Financial Officer 
  

REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE 

 

Remuneration committee  

 

The Board carries out the duties that would ordinarily be carried out by the Remuneration Committee under the 

Remuneration Committee Charter including the following processes to set the level and composition of 

remuneration for Directors and senior executives and ensuring that such remuneration is appropriate and not 

excessive.  

 

The Board approves the remuneration arrangements of the Chief executive officer and other executives and all 

awards made under incentive plans following recommendations from the Remuneration committee.  

 

The Board also sets the remuneration of Non-executive directors, subject to the fee pool approved by 

shareholders. The Board approves, having regard to the recommendations of the Chief executive officer, the level 

of incentives to other personnel and contractors.  

 

Remuneration consultants 

 

The Board seeks external remuneration advice as and when required to ensure it is fully informed when making 

remuneration decisions. Remuneration advisors are engaged by and report directly to the Board. No remuneration 

advisors were used in the 2019 financial year. 

 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REMUNERATION ARRANGEMENTS  
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The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Group with the ability to attract and 

retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders.  

 

The Constitution specifies that the aggregate remuneration of Non-executive directors shall be determined from 

time to time by the Board or by ordinary resolution. The current limit is $300,000 which was approved by 

shareholders on 29 November 2012.  

 
Non-executive directors are remunerated by way of fees based on non-executive directors of comparable 

companies and scope and extent of the Companies activities.  

 

Non-executive directors are also entitled to participate in the Company’s Employee Share Option Plan which was 

approved by shareholders on 30 June 2016, but do not receive retirement benefits, nor do they participate in any 

incentive programs.  

 

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION ARRANGEMENTS  

 
The Group aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their position and 

responsibilities within the Group that is competitive by market standards and aligns their interests with those of 

shareholders. Executive remuneration consists of fixed remuneration and short-term and long-term incentives.  

 

Fixed remuneration  

 

The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration which is both appropriate to 

the position and is competitive in the market.  

 

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee through a process that considers 

individual performance, Group performance and market conditions.  

 
Short term incentives  

 

Short term incentives (STI) may include cash and shares and are awarded to executives based on performance 

and the achievement of KPI’s at the absolute discretion of the Remuneration Committee. Given the current stage 

of the Company’s evolution, no STI targets were established at the start of the reporting period.  

 

Long term incentives  

 

Long term incentives (LTI) are considered periodically by the Remuneration Committee principally to retain staff 

and align their remuneration with the creation of shareholder value over the long term. 

 

LTI’s currently include share options that vest and may be exercised into fully paid ordinary shares based on the 

completion of a period of service. The Share options are issued for no consideration, with an exercise price 

determined by a 30 day VWAP that vest in equal proportions annually upon the completion of service over a 

three year period. 

 

Where a director or employee ceases employment prior to their incentives vesting due to resignation or termination 

for cause, incentives will be forfeited. Where a director or employee ceases employment for any other reason, they 

may at the Board’s discretion, retain a number of share options as the Board see fit. 
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Employment agreements and contracts  
 

Chief executive officer 

 

The Chief executive officer is currently employed under a rolling employment agreement.  

 

The Group may terminate the agreement with or without cause by giving one month and three months’ notice 

respectively. The Chief executive officer may terminate the agreement with or without cause by giving three 

months’ written notice. If the agreement is terminated due to a change of control the Chief executive officer is 

entitled to a payment equivalent to twelve month’s base salary, being $240,000. The Group retains the right to 

terminate the agreement immediately by making a payment in lieu of notice for termination by either party without 

cause. 

 

The Chief executive officer is also entitled to receive statutory entitlements of any accrued annual and long service 

leave, together with superannuation benefits. 

 

Chief operating officer 

 
The Chief operating officer is currently employed under a rolling employment agreement.  

 

The Group may terminate the agreement with or without cause by giving one month and three months’ notice 

respectively. The Chief operating officer may terminate the agreement with or without cause by giving three 

months’ written notice.  

If the agreement is terminated due to a change of control the Chief operating officer is entitled to a payment 

equivalent to twelve month’s base salary, being $240,000. The Group retains the right to terminate the agreement 

immediately by making a payment in lieu of notice for termination by either party without cause.  

 

The Chief operating officer is also entitled to receive statutory entitlements of any accrued annual and long service 

leave, together with superannuation benefits. 

 

Company secretary 

 

The Company Secretary is employed under an executive services agreement which is ongoing.  

 

The Group may terminate the agreement with or without cause by giving one month and three months’ notice 

respectively. The Company secretary may terminate the agreement with or without cause by giving one months’ 

written notice. The Group retains the right to terminate the agreement immediately by making a payment in lieu of 

notice for termination by either party without cause of $50,000.  

 

The Company Secretary is also entitled to receive statutory entitlements of any accrued annual and long service 

leave, together with superannuation benefits. 

 
Prohibition on trading  

 

The Remuneration policy prohibits directors and employees that are granted shares as a result of share rights from 

entering into arrangements that limit their exposure to losses that would result from share price decreases. The 

policy also requires directors, and employees to seek approval from the Company prior to that individual buying or 

selling any company securities. Directors and employees are not permitted to trade during a closed period. 

Procedures are in place where trading during a closed period is sought in exceptional circumstances.  
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COMPANY PERFORMANCE AND SHAREHOLDER RETURNS 

We aim to align our executive remuneration to our strategic and business objectives and the creation of 

shareholder wealth. The table below shows measures of the Group’s financial performance and shareholder 

returns over the last five years as required by the Corporations Act 2001.  

 

 

30 June 

2019 

$ 

30 June 

2018 

$ 

30 June 2017* 

$ 

30 June 2016 

$ 

30 June 

2015 

$ 

Loss after tax ($) (4,483,919) (3,183,204) (2,689,004) (7,406,295) (5,104,302) 

Basic earnings per share 

(cents) 

 

(1.52) 

 

(1.27) 

 

(1.40) 

 

(3.38) 

 

(2.41) 

Dividends ($) - - - - - 

Closing share price (cents) 34.5 28.0 16.5 1.3 3.5 

Total shareholder return (%) 23 69 136 (63) (39) 

*  The Company completed a 15:1 share consolidation in this year. 

 

REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL  

 

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of each KMP of the Company or Group for 

the relevant financial year are as follows: 

 
SHORT TERM 

BENEFITS 
POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS SUB-TOTAL 

2019 

Salary & 
Fees 

$ 

STI  
Cash* 

$ 

 
Superannuation 

$ 

Long Service 
Leave 

$ 

Termination 
benefits 

$ 

 
 

$ 

Non-executive directors       

Tom Borman 55,000 - - - - 55,000 

Peter Ruxton 40,000 - - - - 40,000 

Hong Liang Chen 40,000 - - - - 40,000 

Ean Alexander 36,530 - 3,470 - - 40,000 

Executive directors       

Mark Arnesen 240,000 - 22,800 - - 262,800 

Adam Smits 240,000 - 22,800 - - 262,800 

Other executives       

Hannah Hudson(1) 182,648 - 17,352 - - 200,000 

Total 834,178 - 66,422 - - 900,600 

2018       

Non-executive directors       

Tom Borman 18,333 - - - - 18,333 

Peter Ruxton 40,596 - - - - 40,596 

Hong Liang Chen 16,667 - - - - 16,667 

Ean Alexander 9,132 - 868 - - 10,000 

Executive directors       

Mark Arnesen  240,000 - 22,800 - - 262,800 

Adam Smits  240,000 - 22,800 - - 262,800 

Other executives       

Anthony Begovich  182,640 - 17,351 - 3,914 203,905 

Total 747,368 - 63,819 - 3,914 815,101 
(1)Appointed 1 July 2018 
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 SUB TOTAL SHARE BASED 
PAYMENTS 

TOTAL PERFORMANCE 
RELATED 

2019 
 

$ 
Options 

$ 
 

$ 
 

% 

Non-executive directors     

Tom Borman 55,000 210,506 265,506 - 

Peter Ruxton 40,000 - 40,000 - 

Hong Liang Chen 40,000 - 40,000 - 

Ean Alexander 40,000 177,163 217,163 - 

Executive directors     

Mark Arnesen  262,800 219,768 491,316 - 

Adam Smits 262,800 213,589 566,280 - 

Other executives     

Hannah Hudson 200,000 250,696 450,696 - 

Total 900,600 1,071,722 1,972,322 - 

2018     

Non-executive directors     

Tom Borman 18,333 53,444 71,777 - 

Peter Ruxton 40,596 - 40,596 - 

Hong Liang Chen 16,667 - 16,667 - 

Ean Alexander 10,000 30,187 40,187 - 

Executive directors     

Mark Arnesen  262,800 360,238* 623,038 - 

Adam Smits  262,800 275,510* 538,310 - 

Other executives     

Anthony Begovich  203,905 173,433 377,338 - 

Total 815,101 892,812 1,707,913 - 

*Includes $22,294 related to options granted in the 2018 financial year but issued in the 2019 financial year. 
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Equity held by key management personnel 
 

(a) SHAREHOLDINGS  
The number of ordinary shares held by KMP both directly, indirectly are as follows: 

 

2019 
Held at start of year/ 

Appointment date 
Acquired 

during the year 
Balance 

Nominally Held 
Held at end of 

year/ 
Resignation date 

Non-executive directors     

Tom Borman 100,000 - - 100,000 

Peter Ruxton2 - - - - 

Hongliang Chen1 - - - - 

Ean Alexander2 - - - - 

Executive directors     

Mark Arnesen  5,330,984 58,824 - 5,389,808 

Adam Smits 54,000 29,412 - 83,412 

Other executives     

Hannah Hudson - - - - 

TOTAL 5,484,984 88,236 - 5,573,220 

1. Mr Chen is a nominee of Huayou. Huayou holds 43,362,002 shares at the end of the year. 
2. Mr Ruxton and Mr Alexander are both nominees of Tembo. Tembo holds 143,592,144 shares at the end 

of the year, including 11,503,031 acquired during the year. 
 

(b) OPTIONS 
 

The number of options held by KMP both directly and indirectly are as follows: 

 

2019 

Held at start  
of year/ 

Appointment  

Granted as 
remuneration 

Exercised Held at end 
of year 

Vested 
exercisable 

Vested not 
exercisable 

Non-executive 
directors 

 
 

  
  

Tom Borman 945,000 - - 945,000 315,000 630,000 

Peter Ruxton  - -  - - 

Hongliang Chen  - -  - - 

Ean Alexander 675,470 - - 675,470 225,156 450,314 

Executive directors       

Mark Arnesen 2,701,880  - 2,701,880 1,567,293 1,134,587 

Adam Smits  2,701,880  - 2,701,880 1,567,293 1,134,587 

Other executives       

Hannah Hudson (1) - 1,250,000 - 1,250,000 - 1,250,000 

TOTAL 7,024,230 1,250,000 - 8,274,230 3,674,742 4,599,488 

 
 
 

 

(1) Appointed 1 July 2018 
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Fair value of options granted  
 
The fair value of the options granted to KMP during the year were: 

 
Fair Value Per 

Option 
 $ 
Unlisted options exercisable at $0.2492 expiring 27 July 2028 (A Options) $0.20 

 
The fair value at grant date is independently determined using an adjusted form of the Black Scholes Model which 
includes a Monte Carlo simulation model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the 
impact of dilution (where material), the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying 
share, the expected dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option and the correlations and 
volatilities of the peer group companies. The vesting expense of the options has been accelerated as management 
have deemed that the likelihood of a control transaction occurring to be probable and the value of all remaining 
unvested options has been expensed as at 30 June 2019 as the it is considered that the Scheme is likely to be 
finalized imminently. The following tables list the inputs to the model for the options granted to KMP during the 
year: 

 A Options 

  

Dividend yield (%) Nil 

Expected volatility (%) 93.15% 

Risk free interest rate (%) 2.68% 

Exercise price ($) $0.2492 

Marketability discount (%) Nil 

Expected life of options (years) 10 years 

Share price at grant date ($) $0.2300 

 

(c) LOAN TO KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL  

 

There were no loans to key management personnel during the current or prior year. 

 

(d) OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
 

During the year the Company converted its convertible loan with Tembo Capital into 11,503,031 ordinary shares 
at a share price of $0.255 cents per share. The Company also entered into a Loan Facility Agreement with Tembo 
Capital Mining Fund LP to provide a loan to the Company of up to A$3M dollars. As at the date of this report none 
of this loan facility has been drawn. 
 
(e) DISCLOSURE OF VOTING SHAREHOLDERS AT 2018 AGM 
 

The Company received more than 99% of yes votes on its remuneration report for the 2018 year. The Company 

did not receive any specific feedback throughout the year or at the AGM on its remuneration practices. 

 

THIS IS THE END OF THE AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT 

 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 

2001. 

 

Tom Borman 

Chairman 28 September 2019 
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY DEAN JUST TO THE DIRECTORS OF NZURI COPPER LIMITED

As lead auditor of Nzuri Copper Limited for the year ended 30 June 2019, I declare that, to the best of
my knowledge and belief, there have been:

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Nzuri Copper Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

Dean Just

Director

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Perth, 28 September 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the members of Nzuri Copper Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Nzuri Copper Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the financial report, including a summary of significant accounting policies and the directors’
declaration.

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:

(i) Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial
Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the
time of this auditor’s report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to Note 2(a) in the financial report which describes the events and/or conditions
which give rise to the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the
group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore the group may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.



Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial report of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty
related to going concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

Carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

At 30 June 2019 the carrying value of the
capitalised exploration and evaluation asset was
disclosed in Note 11 to the financial report.

As the carrying value of the Exploration and
Evaluation Asset represents a significant asset of
the Group, we considered it necessary to assess
whether any facts or circumstances exist to suggest
that the carrying amount of this asset may exceed
its recoverable amount.

Judgement is applied in determining the treatment
of exploration expenditure in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standard AASB 6 Exploration
for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources.  In
particular:

• Whether the conditions for capitalisation
are satisfied;

• Which elements of exploration and
evaluation expenditures qualify for
recognition; and

• Whether facts and circumstances indicate
that the exploration and expenditure
assets should be tested for impairment.

Our procedures included, but were not limited to:

• Obtaining a schedule of the areas of interest
held by the Group and assessing whether the
rights to tenure of those areas of interest
remained current at balance date;

• Verifying, on a sample basis, exploration and
evaluation expenditure capitalised during the
year for compliance with the recognition and
measurement criteria of AASB 6;

• Considering the status of the ongoing exploration
programmes in the respective areas of interest
by holding discussions with management, and
reviewing the Group’s exploration budgets, ASX
announcements and director’s minutes;

• Considering whether any such areas of interest
had reached a stage where a reasonable
assessment of economically recoverable reserves
existed;

• Considering whether any facts or circumstances
existed to suggest impairment testing was
required; and

• Assessing the adequacy of the related disclosures
in Note 3 and Note 11 to the financial report.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the
information in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the
financial report and the auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.



In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the group to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at:

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on the Remuneration Report

Opinion on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 9 to 15 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 30 June 2019.

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Nzuri Copper Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2019,
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.



Responsibilities

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards.

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Dean Just

Director

Perth, 28 September 2019
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION  
 
The Directors declare that: 

 

The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 28 to 56 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 

including: 

 

• In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable; 

• In the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements, including compliance 
with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the 
Group and the Company; 

• In the directors’ opinion, the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as stated in note 
2 to the financial statements; and 

• The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 by 
the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 

2001. 

 

On behalf of the directors, 

 

 
 

Tom Borman 

Chairman 

28 September 2018 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS & OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 

 

 Note 2019  2018 

  $  $ 

     

Interest income  71,425  

                                                  

116,958  

Depreciation 10 (6,169)  (6,320) 

Employee benefits expense 5a (2,446,466)  (1,786,067) 

Finance cost  (137,131)  - 

Other expenses 5b (1,965,578)  (1,507,775) 

Loss before income tax benefit  (4,483,919)  (3,183,204) 

Income tax benefit 6 -  - 

Net loss after income tax for the year   (4,483,919)  (3,183,204) 

     

Net loss for the year is attributable to:     

Non-controlling interest  -  - 

Owners of Nzuri Copper Limited  (4,483,919)  (3,183,204) 

  (4,483,919)  (3,183,204) 

     

Other comprehensive income     

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     

Effects of foreign currency translation  (869)  77,435 

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax  (869)  77,435 

     

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (4,484,788)  (3,105,769) 

     

Total comprehensive loss for the year is attributable to:     

Non-controlling interest  56,566  78,244 

Owners of Nzuri Copper Limited  (4,541,354)  (3,184,013) 

  (4,484,788)  (3,105,769) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    
 

Loss per share attributable to the equity holders of the Company  Cents  Cents 
Basic and diluted loss per share 7 (1.52)  (1.27) 

 

The above consolidated statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive income should be read in 

conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2019 
 

 

 Note 2019  2018 
  $  $ 

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 8 2,296,242  9,445,730  

Trade and other receivables  166,248  126,634 

Inventory  6,898       63,959  

Total current assets  2,469,388  9,636,323  

     

Non-current assets     

Trade and other receivables 9 1,366,529  1,290,014  

Plant and equipment  779,780      690,162  

Exploration and evaluation assets 11 46,060,724  36,792,537  

Total non-current assets  48,207,033    38,772,713  

Total assets  50,676,421  48,409,036  

     

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 12 1,138,672     1,639,262  

Borrowings 13 5,120,137  2,933,273 

Provisions  93,541        33,914  

Total current liabilities  6,352,350  4,606,449 

     

Non-current liabilities     

Borrowings 13 2,507,426  2,431,211  

Total non-current liabilities  2,507,426  2,431,211 

Total liabilities  8,859,776       7,037,660  

Net assets  41,816,645  41,371,376  

     

Equity     

Issued capital 14a 98,011,169  94,535,048  

Reserves 15 (1,586,126)  (2,983,496)  

Accumulated losses  (57,320,758)  (52,835,970)  

Equity attributable to owners  39,104,285  38,715,582 

Non-controlling interest 17 2,712,360  2,655,794 

Total equity  41,816,645  41,371,376 

 

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 Issued 
Capital 

Reserves Accumulated 
Losses 

Non-
controlling 

Interest 

Total Equity 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2017 82,150,599 (3,920,943) (49,652,766) 2,577,550 31,154,440 

      
Loss for the year - - (3,183,204) - (3,183,204) 
Other comprehensive loss for 
the year - (809) - 78,244 77,435 

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year - (809) (3,183,204) 78,244 (3,105,769) 
      
Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:      
Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs 12,384,449 - - - 12,384,449 
Share-based payments - 938,256 - - 938,256 

Balance at 30 June 2018 94,535,048 (2,983,496) (52,835,970) 2,655,794 41,371,376 

      
Balance at 1 July 2018 94,535,048 (2,983,496) (52,835,970) 2,655,794 41,371,376 

Loss for the year - - (4,483,919) - (4,483,919) 
Other comprehensive loss for 
the year 

- - (869) 56,566 55,697 

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year 

- - (4,484,788) 56,566 (4,428,222) 

      
Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners: 

     

Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs 

542,848 - - - 542,848 

Share-based payments - 1,397,370 - - 1,397,370 
Convertible loan conversion 2,933,273 - - - 2,933,273 

Balance at 30 June 2019 98,011,169 (1,586,126) (57,320,758) 2,712,360 41,816,645 

 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 

 

 Note 2019  2018 
  $  $ 
     

Cash flows from operating activities     

Interest received  71,425  116,958 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (2,739,108)  (2,047,433) 

Net cash (used) in operating activities 18 (2,667,683)  (1,930,475) 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Payments for plant, property and equipment  34,791  (290,644) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation  (10,058,573)  (9,946,842) 

Net cash (used) in investing activities  (10,023,782)  (10,237,486) 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceeds from issue of shares  557,989  13,066,708 

Share issue transaction costs  (15,141)  (682,259) 

Proceeds from convertible notes  -  2,933,273 

Loan proceeds  5,000,000  - 

Net cash from financing activities  5,542,848  15,317,722 

     

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (7,149,488)  3,149,761 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  9,445,730  6,296,778 

Effects of foreign exchange movements on cash  -  (809) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 8 2,296,242  9,445,730 

     

  

 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1. General information 

 
Nzuri Copper Limited (Nzuri or the Company) is a for profit company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled 

in Australia, and whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX).   

 

The consolidated financial report of the Group as at, and for the year ended 30 June 2019 comprises the 

consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group). 

 

The financial statements are presented in the Australian currency. 
 
The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 28 September 2019.  

 
2. Significant accounting policies 

 
(a) BASIS OF PREPARATION  
 
Statement of compliance  

 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements 

of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and complies with other requirements of the law.  

 

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that result in the presentation of reliable and relevant 

information about transactions, events and conditions. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures 

that the financial statements and notes of the Company and the Group comply with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 
Basis of measurement 
 
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain financial instruments that 

are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

Historical cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are 

presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.  

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 

estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 

into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 

account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure 

purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based 

payment transactions that are within the scope of AASB 2. 

 

Comparative information 

 

Certain comparative information in the financial report may have been reclassified to aid comparability with the 

current period. 

 

Basis of Consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including 
special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) (referred to as Group in these financial 
statements). Control is achieved when the Company: 

• Has the power over the investee; 

• Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 



 

WWW.NZURICOPPER.COM.AU  

 

33 
• Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 
 
The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.  
 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with those used by other members of the Group. 
 

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

 

Going Concern 
 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 the entity recorded a loss of $4,484,788, had net cash outflows from operating 

activities of $2,667,683, a cash balance of $2,296,242 and a net working capital deficiency of $3,882,961. 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern, which contemplates 

the continuity of normal business activity, realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of 

business. 

 

Management believe there are sufficient funds to meet the entity’s working capital requirements in the short term 

but will need to secure additional funding within the next twelve months in order to carry out its planned activities.  

 

These conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt about the entity’s ability to 

continue as a going concern and, therefore, that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities 

in the normal course of business.  

 

The ability of the entity to continue as a going concern is dependent on securing additional funding through either 

a capital raising, potential offtake deals or debt financing or a combination of all three to continue to fund its 

operations. 

 

On 27 February 2019, the Company announced it had entered into a Scheme Implementation Deed for the cash 

acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Nzuri by Chengtun, at a price of $0.37 per Nzuri share. The acquisition 

is proposed to be completed by way of a Scheme of Arrangement and is expected to be completed by late October 

2019.  

 

The ability of the entity to continue as a going concern is dependent on securing additional funding through 
either the successful completion of the Scheme,or, failing this, a capital raising, potential offtake deals or debt 
financing or a combination of all three to continue to fund its operations. The Company has a $7m loan facility 
with Chengtun, which is expected to be fully drawn down by October 2019.The Company also has a $3m loan 
facility available from Tembo which is yet to be drawn down. 
 

Should the entity not be able to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and discharge 

its liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts that differ from those stated in the 

financial statements and that the financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability 

and classification of recorded asset amounts or liabilities that might be necessary should the entity not continue 

as a going concern. 
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(b) SEGMENT REPORTING 

 

An operating segment is identified as the component of the Group that is regularly reviewed by the chief operating 

decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. 

 

(c) BORROWING COSTS 
 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes 
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. 
All other bowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and 
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

 
(d) INCOME TAX 
 

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences and to unused tax losses. 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit 
before tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of 
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.  
 
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. The carrying amount 
of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which 
the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets 
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the 
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax 
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively. 
 

(e) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX/VALUE ADDED TAX  
 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated goods and services tax (GST) 

and value added tax (VAT), unless the GST/VAT incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority.  In this 

case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
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Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST/VAT receivable or payable.  The net amount 

of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables 

in the Statement of Financial Position. 

 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST/VAT components of cash flows arising from investing or 

financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating 

cash flows. 

 

(f) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION 
 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 

currency. 

 

Foreign currency transactions 

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the 

dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 

and from the translation at financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Foreign operations 

 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates at 

the reporting date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using 

the average exchange rate, which approximates the rate at the date of the transaction, for the period. All resulting 

foreign exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency reserve in equity. 

 

The foreign currency reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the foreign operation or net investment is 

disposed of. 

 
(g) SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
 

Equity-settled share-based payments in return for goods and services are measured at the fair value of the goods 

or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured 

at the fair value of the equity instruments. 

 
(h) EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

Basic earnings per share 

 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of the Company, excluding 

any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial 

year. 

 

Diluted earnings per share 

 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 

account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary  

shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation 

to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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(i) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

For the purpose of presentation in consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash 

on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short term highly liquid investments with original 

maturities of three (3) months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 

to significant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. 

 
(j) JOINT VENTURES 
 

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an 

arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the 

parties sharing control. 

 

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to 

determine control over subsidiaries. 

 

The Group’s investment in its joint venture is accounted for using the equity method. 

Under the equity method, the investment in a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of 

the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture since the 

acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is 

neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. 

 

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income reflects the Group’s share of the results of 

operations of the joint venture. Any change in other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as 

part of the Group's other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly 

in the equity of the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement 

of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the joint 

venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the joint venture. 

 

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of a joint venture is shown on the face of the statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and 

non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the joint venture. 

 

The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When 

necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 

 

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment 

loss on its investment in its joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective 

evidence that the investment in the joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the 

amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the joint venture and its carrying value, 

then recognises the loss as ‘Share of profit of a joint venture’ in the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income. 

 

Upon loss of joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at 

its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture upon loss of joint control and the fair 

value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
(k) EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

 
Expenditure on acquisition, exploration and evaluation relating to an area of interest is carried forward at cost 
where rights to tenure of the area of interest are current and: 

• It is expected that expenditure will be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area 
of interest or alternatively by its sale; and/or 
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• Exploration and evaluation activities are continuing in an area of interest but at reporting date have not yet 

reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically 
recoverable reserves. 

 
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry 
forward costs in relation to that area of interest.  Where uncertainty exists as to the future viability of certain areas, 
the value of the area of interest is written off or provided against. 
 
The carrying value of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment at the cash 
generating unit level whenever facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of the asset may exceed 
its recoverable amount. 
 
An impairment exists when the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its recoverable amount. Any 
impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss account. 

 
(l) IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 
 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
decrease. 
 
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.   
 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at 
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 
 

(m) TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial 

year which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are paid on normal commercial 

terms.  They are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting 

period. 

 

(n) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave that are expected to be 

settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are 

recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the 

amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  The short-term employee benefit obligations are 

presented as payables. 

 
(o) PROVISIONS 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event, and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 

made of the amount of the obligation. 
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The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a 

provision is measured using the cashflows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 

present value of those cash flows. 

 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 

party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 

amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

 

(p) BORROWINGS 
 

Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction 

costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

Where there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 

date, the loans or borrowings are classified as non-current. 

 

(q) CONVERTIBLE LOANS AND NOTES 
 

Convertible loans and notes that can be converted to a fixed number of ordinary shares at the option of the 

company are recognised in equity.  

 

Convertible loans and notes that exhibits characteristics of a liability are recognised as a liability in the statement 

of financial position. 

 

Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity components. 

 

Convertible notes which include embedded derivatives are recognised as financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss. On initial recognition, the fair value of the convertible note will equate to the proceeds received and 

subsequently the liability is measured at fair value at each reporting date until settlement. The fair value movement 

is recognised in the profit or loss statement. 

 

(r) NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET MANDATORY OR EARLY 
ADOPTED 
 

New, revised or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted by the Group 

 
A number of new or amended standards became applicable for the current reporting period.  The adoption of these 
Accounting standards however, did not have any significant impact on the financial performance or position of the 
Group.  Any new, revised and amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have 
not been early adopted. 
 
The Company adopted AASB 9 Financial Instruments with a date of initial application of 1 July 2018. The Company 
has applied AASB 9 retrospectively with the effect of initially applying this standard recognised at the date of initial 
application and has elected not to restate comparative information accordingly. The adoption of AASB 9 did not 
give rise to any material transitional adjustments.  
 
The standard introduced new classification and measurement models for financial assets. A financial asset shall 
be measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows which arise on specified dates and that are solely principal and interest. 
A debt investment shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if it is held within a 
business model whose objective is to both hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows which arise on 
specified dates that are solely principal and interest as well as selling the asset on the basis of its fair value. 
All other financial assets are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the entity makes 
an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that are not held-
for-trading or contingent consideration recognised in a business combination) in other comprehensive income 
('OCI'). 
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Despite these requirements, a financial asset may be irrevocably designated as measured at fair value through 
profit or loss to reduce the effect of, or eliminate, an accounting mismatch. 
For financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, the standard requires the portion of the change 
in fair value that relates to the entity's own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create an accounting 
mismatch). 
 
The standard introduced new impairment requirements with the use of an 'expected credit loss' ('ECL') model to 
recognise an allowance. Impairment is measured using a 12-month ECL method unless the credit risk on a 
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL method is 
adopted 

Revenue is recognised upon satisfaction of these performance obligations, which occur when control of goods or 
services is transferred, rather than on transfer of risks or rewards. Revenue received for a contract that includes a 
variable amount is subject to revised conditions for recognition, whereby it must be highly probable that no 
significant reversal of the variable component may occur when the uncertainties around its measurement are 
removed. 

The Group has no material contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods or services to 
the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any 
of the transaction prices for the time value of money. 

 
Standards issued but not yet effective  

 
A number of new standards, amendment of standards and interpretations have recently been issued but are not 
yet effective and have not been adopted by the Group as at the financial reporting date.  
 
The Group has reviewed these standards and interpretations, and with the exception of the items listed below for 
which the final impact is yet to be determined, none of the new or amended standards will significantly affect the 
Group’s accounting policies, financial position or performance. 
 

Reference 

and title 
Summary 

Application date 

of standard * 

Application date  

for Group * 

AASB 16   

Leases 

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting 
model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and 
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 
months, unless the underlying asset is of low 
value.  A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-
use asset representing its right to use the underlying 
leased asset and a lease liability representing its 
obligation to make lease payments. 

1 January 2019 1 July 2019 

 
* Designates the beginning of the applicable annual reporting period 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

 
The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on historical 

knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events 

and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group. 

 

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 

management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas 

involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 

to the financial statements are set out below. 
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Determination of JORC mineral resource estimate 

 

The Group reports its mineral resource estimate in accordance with the Australasian Code for Reporting of 

Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves, 2004 Edition (‘the JORC code’) as a minimum 

standard. The information on mineral resources and ore reserves were prepared by or under the supervision of 

Competent Persons as defined in the JORC code. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating 

mineral resources and ore reserves and assumptions that are valid at the time of estimation may change 

significantly when new information becomes available. Changes in the forecast prices of commodities, exchange 

rates, production costs or recovery rates may change the economic status of reserves and may, ultimately, result 

in reserves or resources being restated.  

 

Impairment of Exploration and evaluation assets 

 

The Group accounts for Exploration and evaluation assets in accordance with its policy (refer Note 2(k).  

 

An impairment exists when the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its estimated 

recoverable amount. The asset or cash generating unit is then written down to its recoverable amount. Any 

impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  

 

The estimated recoverable amount of the Group’s Kalongwe Copper-Cobalt development project is supported by 

a DCF model based on the results from a scoping study and preliminary feasibility studies performed by 

consultants engaged by the Company and a number of judgements, estimates and assumptions made by 

management.  

 

The use of judgements, estimates and assumptions made by management are based on actual or conservative 

estimates of latest available information by market commentators.  

 

The Group’s other project the Fold and Thrust Belt JV exploration project is considered to not be at the stage that 

permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves.  

 

The future recoverability of Exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on a number of factors, including 

whether the Group decides to exploit the related concession itself or, if not, whether it can successfully recover 

the related exploration and evaluation asset through sale.  

 

Factors that could impact the future recoverability include the level of reserves and resources, future technological 

changes, which could impact the cost of mining, future legal changes (including changes to environmental 

restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices. To the extent that capitalised Exploration and evaluation 

expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in the future, profits and net assets will be reduced in the period 

in which this determination is made.  

 
Convertible loans and notes 

 

Convertible loans and notes issued by the Group are either recognised in equity or as a liability upon initial 

recognition based on the characteristics of the Convertible loans and notes and the Group’s intentions. Any directly 

attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity components. Costs related to modifications 

of preceding convertible note agreements to facilitate further funding is treated as a finance cost and recognised 

in the profit or loss as incurred. 

 

Share-based payment transactions  

 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled and cash-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the 

equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using the Black-Scholes 

model and the assumptions and carrying amount at the reporting date. 
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Deferred income tax benefit from carried forward tax losses 

 

Unused tax losses have not been recognised as a deferred tax asset as the future recovery of those losses is 

subject to the Group satisfying the requirements imposed by the regulatory taxation authorities. The amount of 

unrecognised carry forward tax losses is based on management’s assessment of their ability to meet the same 

business or the modified continuity of ownership test. The benefits of these deferred tax assets not brought to 

account will only be brought to account if: 

• future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised; 

• the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with; and 

• no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Company in realising the benefit. 
 
Tax in foreign jurisdictions 

The consolidated entity operates in overseas jurisdictions and accordingly is required to comply with the taxation 

requirements of those relevant countries. This results in the consolidated entity making estimates in relation to 

taxes including but not limited to income tax, goods and services tax, withholding tax and employee income tax. 

The consolidated entity estimates its tax liabilities based on the consolidated entity’s understanding of the tax law. 

Where the final outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 

differences will impact profit or loss in the period in which they are settled. Management has recognised the VAT 

receivable in its DRC entities as a non-current receivable as it is intended that the VAT will be recovered through 

the offset of VAT payable on mineral sales.  

The recoverability of VAT receivable require management to assess the likelihood that the Group will comply with 

the relevant tax legislation and will generate sufficient taxable earnings in future periods in order to recognise and 

receive the VAT receivable. These assessments require the use of estimates and assumptions such as commodity 

prices, exchange rates and operating performance over the life of the assets. The future recoverability of the VAT 

receivable is dependent on a number of factors, including whether the Group is able to successfully to exploit the 

related concession. Factors that could impact the future recoverability include the level of reserves and resources, 

future technological changes, which could impact the cost of mining, future legal changes (including changes to 

environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices.  

 

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 

The consolidated entity operated in one industry being mining and exploration operations in the Democratic 
Republic of Congo. This operating segment is based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the 
Board of Directors (who are identified as the Chief Operating Decision Makers (CODM) in assessing performance 
and determining the allocation of resources. There is no aggregation of operating segments. The accounting 
policies adopted for internal reporting to the CODM are consistent with those adopted in the financial statements. 
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  2019  2018 
  $  $ 
5. EXPENSES 
     

(a) Employee benefits expenses     

Wages and salaries  323,628         728,000  

Director fees  651,530            51,288  

Superannuation  73,938            68,523  

Share based payments (refer note 16b)  1,397,370         938,256  

  2,446,466      1,786,067  

     

 

  2019  2018 

  $  $ 

(b) Other expenses      

Administrative costs  126,951            73,258  

Occupancy costs  43,368            44,848  

Corporate costs   872,692      1,389,669  

Legal costs  921,698  - 

Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss  869                     -    

  1,965,578      1,507,775  

6. INCOME TAX BENEFIT 
  2019  2018 

Reconciliation of income tax benefit and tax at the statutory rate     

Loss before income tax benefit  (4,679,130)  (3,183,204) 
     
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 27.5% (2018: 27.5%)  (1,409,139)  (875,381) 
     
Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating 

taxable income:     

− Tax effect of permanent differences  839,055  617,361 

− Unused tax losses and temporary differences not recognised as 
deferred tax assets in Australia  570,083  258,020 

Income tax benefit  -  - 

     
Deferred tax assets not recognised and comprising temporary 

differences attributable to:     
Tax losses - revenue  10,555,175  9,144,638 
Temporary differences  335,468  49,901 

Total deferred tax assets not recognised  10,890,643  9,194,539 

 
 
  



 

WWW.NZURICOPPER.COM.AU  

 

43 
 
 
 
 

 2019 2018 

 Cents Cents 

7. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
   

Basic and diluted earnings per share (1.52) (1.27) 

   

 $ $ 

   

Loss attributable to owners of the Company 4,483,919 (3,183,204) 

   

 

2019 
Number of 

Shares 

2018  
Number of 

Shares 
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (post consolidation) for the 
purposes of basic loss per share 1 294,598,084 250,760,512 

 

As the Company has made a loss for the years ended 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018, all options on issue are 

considered antidilutive and have not been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. These options 

could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future. 

  2019  2018 

  $  $ 
8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
     
Cash on hand  4,754   2,128  

Cash at bank  2,291,488    9,443,602  

  2,296,242  9,445,730  

 
9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

     

Non-Current     
Value added tax  1,366,529  1,290,014  

  1,366,529  1,290,014  

 
Value added tax (VAT) receivable non-current refers to a receivable by the company’s subsidiary in the DRC which 

can only be offset against VAT attributable to future sales. There are no trade and other receivables that are 

considered impaired. 
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10. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT     

     

 

Movements: Equipment Motor Vehicles Total 

 $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2017 135,476 270,362 405,838 

Additions 417,283 - 417,283 

Depreciation capitalised - (126,639) (126,639) 

Depreciation expensed (6,320) - (6,320) 

Effect of foreign currency translation - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2018 546,439 143,723 690,162 

    

Balance at 1 July 2018 546,439 143,723 690,162 

Additions - - - 

Depreciation capitalised (141,778) (64,679) (206,457) 

Depreciation expensed (6,169) - (6,169) 

Effect of foreign currency translation 292,540 9,704 302,244 

Balance at 30 June 2019 691,032 88,748 779,780 

 
 
11. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION 
     
Exploration and evaluation expenditure  46,060,724  36,792,537 

 

Movements: 
     

Balance at the beginning of the year  36,792,537  26,264,499 

Additions  11,625,008  11,751,976 

Foreign currency translation movement  (2,356,821)  (1,223,938) 

Balance at end of the year  46,060,724  36,792,537 

 
The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration expenditure is dependent on the successful 

development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective mining areas.  

 

  2019  2018 
12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
  $  $ 
Trade payables  708,695  1,463,486 

Accruals   429,977  175,776 

  1,138,672  1,639,262 

 

 

  



 

WWW.NZURICOPPER.COM.AU  

 

45 
 

13. BORROWINGS 
  2019  2018 
Current  $  $ 

Loans   5,120,137  2,933,273 

Non-current     

Loans   2,507,426  2,431,211 

 

The current loan in 2019 reflects the loan from Chengtun and its accrued interest. The loan is secured against the 
Company’s project assets and accrues interest at 10% p.a. Current loan from 2018 reflect the convertible loan 
from Tembo Capital. Following shareholder approval on 13 July 2018 the Convertible loan was settled via the 
issue of 11,503,031 shares at $0.255 per share. The convertible loan was unsecured and interest free, and the 
conversion share price is based on the same price as the private placement announced 30 May 2018.  

Non current loans reflect the loan owed to GICC by KMSA partially offset by amounts owed to KMSA by GICC.  
The loan is non-interest bearing and is only required to be repaid from surplus production proceeds from the 
Kalongwe Copper-Cobalt project. As required under AASB 9 Financial Instruments, the loan has been recognised 
at fair value on initial recognition.  This value is subject to management’s estimate on the timing of the repayment 
and interest rate.  For the purposes of this calculation the repayment is forecast to occur in 2020 and the implicit 
interest rate is 10%. 
  



 

WWW.NZURICOPPER.COM.AU  

 

46 
 
 
 
 2019 2019  2018 2018 

 

Number of 

shares $ 

 Number of 

shares $ 

14. ISSUED CAPITAL      
      

(a) Fully paid ordinary shares 295,905,492 98,011,169  282,214,213 94,535,048 

 

 2019 2019  2018 2018 

 
Number of shares 

$ 

 Number of 

shares $ 

Movements:      

      

Balance at beginning of the year 282,214,213 94,535,048  230,299,520 82,150,599 

Shares issued – Huayou Cobalt  - -  39,888,313 10,000,000 

Shares issued – Capital raising  - -  12,026,380 3,066,708 

Shares issued – Convertible loan 11,503,031 2,933,273  - - 

Shares issued – SPP 2,188,248 557,989  - - 

Capital raising costs  - (15,141)  - (682,259) 

Balance at end of the year 295,905,492 98,011,169  282,214,213 94,535,048 

 
  2019  2018 

  
Number of 

options  
Number of 

options  

     

(b) Unlisted options  12,274,230  10,620,470 

     

Movements:     

     

Balance at beginning of the year  10,620,470  12,733,379 

Granted during the year   1,250,000  3,620,470 

Exercised during the year  -  - 

Granted prior year issued during the current year  1,403,760  - 

Forfeited/Expired during the year  (1,000,000)  (5,733,379) 

Outstanding at end of the year  12,274,230  10,620,470 

     

All options on issue are exercisable on a 1:1 basis for ordinary fully paid shares in the Company and carry no 
rights to dividends and no voting rights.  
 

The exercise price and expiry date of Options as at 30 June 2019 are as follows: 
     

Type Number of options Exercise price Expiry date 
    

Convertible bridge loan options 2,000,000 $0.9000 6/07/2021 

Director and employee options 2,000,000 $0.2055 21/09/2026 

Director and employee options 3,000,000 $0.2130 14/11/2026 

Director and employee options 1,000,000 $0.1996 14/09/2027 

Director and employee options 945,000 $0.3041 1/03/2028 

Director and employee options 1,403,760 $0.3395 16/07/2028 

Director and employee options 675,470 $0.3395 4/04/2028 

Director and employee options 1,250,000 $0.2492 25/7/2028 

 12,274,230   

     

Exercisable at the end of the year 3,674,742    
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15. RESERVES  2019  2018 
  $  $ 

Foreign currency reserve  197                    197  

Other reserve  (4,142,751)        (4,142,751)  

Options reserve  2,556,428  1,159,058               

  (1,586,126)         (2,983,496)  

 

Movements: 

 
 

Foreign 

currency 

Other 

Reserve 

Options 

reserve 
TOTAL 

      

Opening balance at 1 July 2017  1,006 (4,142,751) 220,802 (3,920,943) 

Foreign currency translation  (809) - - (809) 

Transactions with non-controlling interests  - - - - 

Options issued/(cancelled)  - - 938,256 938,256 

Balance at 30 June 2018  197 (4,142,751) 1,159,058 (2,983,496) 

      

Opening balance at 1 July 2018  197 (4,142,751) 1,159,058 (2,983,496) 

Foreign currency translation  - - - - 

Transactions with non-controlling interests  - - - - 

Options issued/(cancelled)  - - 1,397,370 1,397,370 

Balance at 30 June 2019  197 (4,142,751) 2,556,428 (1,586,126) 

 

The foreign currency reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 

statements of foreign operations that do not use Australian Dollars as their functional currency. It is also used to 

recognise gains and losses arising from hedges on the net investments in foreign operations. The Other reserve 

is used to record differences arising as a result of transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a 

loss of control. The Options reserve is used to recognise the fair value of share based payment shares/options 

issued. 

 

16. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS     

     
(a) Employee share option plan  
 

The Employee share option plan (ESOP or Plan) was approved by shareholders on 30 June 2016 for the purpose 
of attracting, motivating and retaining directors, employees and consultants and providing them with an incentive to 
deliver growth and value to all shareholders.  
 
Under the ESOP the Group may offer share options to eligible participants and Directors, employees and 
consultants are eligible persons for the purposes of the Plan.  
 
Under the Plan, participants are granted options which only vest if certain criteria are met. Participation in the ESOP 
is at the board’s discretion and no individual has a contractual right to participate in the Plan or to receive any 
guaranteed benefits. 
 
The amount of options that will vest depends on meeting certain criteria which can include retention and 
performance milestones over a period of time, usually three years. Once vested, the options remain exercisable for 
a period of up to ten years. Options are granted under the Plan for no consideration and carry no dividend or voting 
rights. When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.  
 
The exercise price of options is based on the weighted average price at which the Company’s shares are traded on 
the Australian Stock Exchange during the 30 days up to and including the date of the grant. 
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  2019  2018 

  $  $ 

(b) Expenses arising from share based payments     
Employee benefits expense  1,397,370  938,256 

     
 

(c) Summary of movements in options granted as share based payments 
 
The following table details the number and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of, and movements in, 
unlisted options issued as share based payments during the year: 

 2019 2019  2018 2018 

 

 

Number of 

options WAEP 

 Number  

of options WAEP 

      

Outstanding at beginning of the year 8,620,470 $0.3667  6,466,672 $0.7641 

Granted during the year  1,250,000 $0.2492  5,024,230 $0.2733 

Granted during the year but issued post year end* - -  (1,403,760) $0.3395 

Issued during the year but granted in the prior year* 1,403,760 $0.3395  - - 

Exercised during the year - -  - - 

Forfeited/Expired during the year  (1,000,000) $0.2965  (1,466,672) $1.2000 

Outstanding at year end 10,274,230 $0.4238  8,620,470 $0.3667 

      

Vested and exercisable at the end of the year 7,008,077   4,333,333  

 
* These options were granted in March 2018, subject to shareholder approval, and were issued following that 

approval on 13 July 2018. 

 

(d) Options as at 30 June 2019 granted as share based payments 
    

 

Grant date 

 

Expiry date 

2019 

Exercise price 

2019 Number 

of options 

    

26 September 2016 26 September 2026 $0.2055 2,000,000 

14 November 2016 14 November 2026 $0.2130 3,000,000 

6 September 2027 6 September 2027 $0.1996 1,000,000 

1 March 2018 1 March 2028 $0.3041 945,000 

4 April 2018 4 April 2028 $0.3395 675,470 

29 March 2018 16 July 2028 $0.3395 1,403,760 

25 July 2018 25 July 2028 $0.2492 1,250,000 

   10,274,230 

Weighted average remaining contractual life of options 7.09 years 

 
(e) Fair value of options granted 
 
The fair value of the options granted during the year, on a post-consolidation basis, were: 

 
Fair Value Per 

Option 
 $ 
  

Unlisted options exercisable at $0.1996 expiring 6 September 2027 (A Options) $0.2006 
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The fair value at grant date is independently determined using an adjusted form of the Black Scholes Model which 
includes a Monte Carlo simulation model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the 
impact of dilution (where material), the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying 
share, the expected dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option and the correlations and 
volatilities of the peer group companies.  
 
 
The following tables list the inputs to the model for the options granted during the year: 
 

 A Options 

  

Dividend yield (%) Nil 

Expected volatility (%) 93.15% 

Risk free interest rate (%) 2.68% 

Exercise price ($) $0.2492 

Marketability discount (%) Nil 

Expected life of options (years) 10 years 

Share price at grant date ($) $0.2300 

 

The vesting terms of the options are that they 1/3 vest in 12 months, 1/3 vest in 24 months and 1/3 vest in 36 

months after grant date as long as the employee remained an employee of the Company. As the Scheme and 

the resulting acquisition of the Company by Chengtun is now considered highly likely to occur imminently, the 

vesting expense has been accelerated and all outstanding unvested option values have been expensed during 

the current period. 

 

 

  2019  2018 
  $  $ 

17. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST     
     
Opening balance  2,655,794  2,577,550 
Comprehensive income  56,566 - 78,244 

  2,712,360  2,655,794 

 
     

(a) Summarised financial information of Kalongwe Mining SA (15% NCI)  
     

  2019  2018 
Summarised Statement of Financial Position  $  $ 
Current assets  587,070  123,880 
Current liabilities  (583,206)  (163,211) 

Net current assets  3,864  (39,331) 

     
Non-current assets  31,632,667  26,041,876 
Non-current liabilities  (31,380,120)  (25,455,037) 

Net non-current assets  252,547  586,839 

     

Net assets  256,411  547,508 

     

Accumulated NCI  2,712,360  2,655,794 
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Summarised Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Revenue  -  - 

Profit for the period    - 

Other comprehensive income  56,566  78,244 

Total comprehensive income  56,566  78,244 

     

Profit/(loss) or other comprehensive income allocated to NCI  56,566  78,244 

     

Summarised cash flows     

Net cash from (used) in investing activities  56,566  78,244 

     

     

18. CASHFLOW INFORMATION   2019  2018 

  $  $ 

(a) Reconciliation of loss after income tax     

     
Loss after income tax benefit for the year  (4,483,919)  (3,183,204) 

     

Adjustments for:     

Depreciation and amortisation  6,169  6,320 

Corporate costs  56,566  77,435 

Interest accrued  120,138  - 

Loss on foreign exchange  -  808 

Share based payments  1,397,370  938,256 

     

Change in operating assets and liabilities:     

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  (330,692)  (744,237) 

Decrease/(increase) in inventory  57,062  (5,558) 

Decrease/(increase) in other current assets  -  50,357 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  449,997  910,237 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions  59,626  19,075 

Net cash (used in) operating activities  (2,667,683)  (1,930,511) 

 
(b) Net debt reconciliation 
    Non-cash changes 

 2018 Cash flows Acquisition 

Foreign 
exchange 

movement Other  2019 

Long-term borrowings 2,431,211 - - - (230,363) 2,200,848 

Short-term borrowings 2,933,273 5,000,000 - - (2,813,136) 5,120,137 

Lease liabilities - - - - - - 

Total liabilities from financing 
liabilities 5,364,484 5,000,000 - - (3,043,499) 7,320,985 
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  2019  2018 

19. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION  $  $ 
     

(a) Financial position     

     

Assets     

Current assets  1,838,153  8,861,401 

Non-current assets  45,096,686  35,697,141 

Total assets  46,934,839  44,558,542 

     

Liabilities     

Current liabilities  5,482,568  3,187,166 

Non-current liabilities   - - 

Total liabilities  5,482,568  3,187,166 

     

Net assets  41,452,271  41,371,376 

     

Equity     

Contributed equity  98,011,169  94,535,048 

Other reserves  2,556,428  1,125,705 

Accumulated losses  (59,115,326)  (50,289,377) 

  41,452,271  41,371,376 

(a) Financial performance     

Profit/(loss) after income tax  (4,484,188 ) (3,125,267) 

Other comprehensive income   - - 

Total comprehensive loss  (4,484,188)  (3,125,267) 

 

20. SUBSIDIARIES 

   

2019 

Equity  

holding 

2018 

Equity 

holding 

Name of entity Country of incorporation % % 

    

Kalongwe Holdings Ltd British Virgin Islands 100 100 

Kalongwe Holdings No 2 Ltd British Virgin Islands 100 100 

Kalongwe Holdings No 3 Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Kalongwe Resources Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Western Victoria Energy Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Magma Oil Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Nzuri Exploration Holdings Limited Pty 

Ltd Australia 
100 - 

Katanga Mining Consultants (Pty) Ltd South Africa 100 100 

Regal Resources SASU Democratic Republic of Congo 100 100 

Kalongwe Mining SA Democratic Republic of Congo 85 85 
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  2019  2018 
  $  $ 
21. COMMITMENTS 
     

(a) Lease commitments     
     

Within one year  19,140  38,562 

Between one and five years  -  - 

Longer than five years  -  - 

  19,140  38,562 

 

The group has entered into operating lease arrangements in respect of its corporate head office and KMSA 
regional offices.  The associated expenditure commitments are summarised as follows: 
 

(b) Mineral exploration and mining tenements  
 

The Group pays approximately US$90,000 in annual land taxes in relation to its tenements in the DRC. 
 

22. CONTINGENCIES 
 
During the year, the Company settled two of three ongoing claims brought against it in respect of historical projects 

the Company was involved with. The Company is legally represented, and is vigorously defending the final 

outstanding claim.  The potential exposure on the outstanding claims is a currently  maximum of $75,000.  
 

23. DIVIDENDS 
 

No dividends were paid during the financial year. No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made. 

 
24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
(a) Subsidiaries 
 

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 21. 
 

(b) Key management personnel compensation 
  2019  2018 
  $  $ 
     

Short-term employee benefits  834,178  747,368 

Post-employment benefits  66,422  67,733 

Share-based payments  1,071,722  892,812 

  1,972,322  1,707,913 

Information regarding individual directors’ and executives’ compensation and equity instrument disclosures are 
disclosed in the Remuneration report.  

 
(c) Other transactions with key management personnel 
 
There were no other transactions with key management personnel during the current or prior financial year. 
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(d) Transactions with other related parties 
 
  2019  2018 

  $  $ 

Payment of Director fees   651,530  75,872 

Issue of Rights issue shares   908,290  - 

Issue of Subscription shares    6,637,462 

Issue of Subscription shares    3,362,538 

Issue of Subscription shares    885,773 

Receipt of Convertible loan  -  (2,933,273) 

  1,559,820  8,028,372 

 
 
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates and approved by 
shareholders. 
 

Remuneration arrangements of key management personnel are disclosed in the annual financial report.  

 

Outstanding balances with Related Parties 
  2019  2018 
  $  $ 
     

Convertible loan principle 1  -  2,933,273 

Director fees   33,750  - 

  33,750  2,933,273 

 
1 This transaction relates the convertible loan received from Tembo Capital. During the 2019 financial year this 
loan has been converted and settled through the issue of 11,503,031 shares at an issue price of $0.255 per share. 

All the outstanding balances with related parties are included in liabilities. 
 
25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
other financial assets, trade and other payables and borrowings. The main risks affecting these financial 
instruments are market risk (e.g. foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board 
manages the Group’s exposure to these risks which are recurring items for deliberation at Board meetings. 
 
(a) Foreign currency risk 

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange 
rates relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities and the Group’s net investment in its subsidiaries in the 
DRC. The Group currently does not hedge its net investment in its foreign operations.  
 
The Group also has transactional currency exposures from operating costs and concession payments that are 
denominated in currencies other than the Australian dollar (‘AUD’). The currencies in which these transactions are 
primarily denominated are the United States dollar (‘USD’). The Board attempts to mitigate the effect of its foreign 
currency exposure by acquiring USD in accordance with budgeted expenditures when the exchange rate is 
favourable. As at 30 June 2019, the Group had the following exposure to USD that is not designated in cash flow 
hedges: 
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  2019  2018 
  $  $ 
Financial assets     

Cash and cash equivalents  525,042  643,248 

Trade and other receivables  -  - 

  525,042  643,248 

Financial liabilities     

Trade and other payables  (534,718)  (978,141) 

Net exposure  (9,676)  (334,893) 

 
The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the AUD/USD exchange rate 
with all other variables held constant.  
 
The impact on the Group’s pre-tax profit is due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities.  
 

  

Effect on loss 
before tax 

$  

Effect on 

equity 

$ 

30 June 2019     

AUD/USD +10%  (968)  - 

AUD/USD -10%  968  - 

     

30 June 2018     

AUD/USD +10%  (33,489)  - 

AUD/USD -10%  33,489  - 

 
(b) Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest 
rates. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its cash and cash equivalent balances.  

The Board constantly monitors its interest rate exposure and attempts to maximise interest income by using a 
mixture of fixed and variable interest rates, whilst ensuring sufficient funds are available for the Group’s operating 
activities.  

As at 30 June 2019 the Group had the following exposure to Australian variable interest rate risk. 

  2019  2018 
  $  $ 
Financial assets     

Cash and cash equivalents  1,771,220  8,802,482 

 
The following sensitivity analysis is based on the judgements by management of reasonably possible movements 
in interest rates after consideration of the views of market commentators. As at 30 June 2019, if interest rates had 
moved, as indicated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, pre-tax loss would have been 
affected as follows: 
  2019  2018 

  $  $ 

Pre tax loss impact     

+0.5% (50 basis points)  8,856  44,012 

-0.5% (50 basis points)  (8,856)  (44,012) 
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(c) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk to the Group if a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or 
customer contract, leading to a financial loss.  
 
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date in relation to each class of recognised financial 
asset is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  
 
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents (refer note 8). 
 
The Group only trades with recognised creditworthy third parties and only invests in high credit quality financial 
institutions with a credit rating of investment grade or better. 
 

 
(d) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not have sufficient cash to meet its commitments as and when they fall 
due.  
 
The Board manages liquidity risk by regularly reviewing the Group’s liquidity position, monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flows, and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.  
 
The following tables summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted cash payments. 
 

2019 

Less than  

1 month 

$ 

1-3  

months 

$ 

3-12  

months 

$ 

1-5  

years 

$ 

Total 

 

$ 

Financials liabilities      

Trade and other payables 981,348 - - - 981,348 

Borrowings - - 5,120,137 2,507,211 7,627,348 

 981,348 - 5,120,137 2,507,211 8,608,696 

2018      

Financials liabilities      

Trade and other payables 1,639,262 - - - 1,639,262 

Borrowings 2,933,273 - - 2,431,211 5,364,484 

 4,572,535 - - 2,431,211 7,003,746 

 
(e) Capital management 
 
The Board is responsible for capital management of the Group. The Board’s objective is to ensure the entity 
continues as a going concern as well as to maintain an optimal structure to reduce the cost of capital.  
 
The Group is dependent from time to time on its ability to raise capital from the issue of new shares, obtain debt 
and its ability to realise value from its existing assets. This involves the use of cashflow forecasts to determine 
future capital management requirements.  
Capital management is undertaken to ensure a secure, cost effective and flexible supply of funds is available to 
meet the Group’s operating and capital expenditure requirements.  
 
As at 30 June 2019 the Group is not subject to any external capital requirements 
 
The following table details the Group’s capital: 

  2019  2018 
  $  $ 
     

Cash and cash equivalents  2,296,242  9,445,730 

Trade and other receivables  166,248  126,634 

Trade and other payables  (1,138,672)  (1,639,262) 

Borrowings  (7,627,348)  (5,364,484) 

Net surplus/(debt)  (6,303,530)  2,568,618 
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26.  REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS  

 

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditors of the Group, its 
related practices and non-related audit firms: 
 

(a) BDO firms     

Audit and other assurance services     

Audit and review   46,665  33,032 

Other   -  23,998 

  46,665  57,030 

Non-audit services     

Corporate advice  94,408  - 

Tax compliance   9,300  39,301 

Tax advice  12,546  - 

  116,254  39,301 

Total remuneration of BDO firms  162,919  96,331 

(b) Non-BDO firms      

Audit and other assurance services     

Audit and review   -  - 

     

Non-audit services     

Tax compliance   7,700  7,564 

     

Total remuneration of Non-BDO firms  7,700  7,564 

     

Total auditors’ remuneration  170,619  170,483 

 

27. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE  
 

Subsequent to June 30, the Company announced that it had been advised by Chengtun that there were expected 

to be delays in receiving the regulatory approvals in the People’s Republic of China (PRC Regulatory Approvals) 

required under the Scheme. As a result, the Company adjourned its scheme meeting of shareholders which was 

scheduled to be held on 8th of July 2019, until 19th of August 2019. As a result of this delay, the Company also 

announced on 18 July 2019 that it had amended its loan and facility agreement with Chengtun to provide the 

Company with additional advances under the agreement of up to A$2,000,000 in the following tranches:  

 

• A$800,000 – on or about 1 August 2019;  

• A$700,000 – on or about 1 September 2019; and  

• A$500,000 – on or about 1 October 2019, and only payable in the event that the Scheme is not implemented on 

or before 30 September 2019.  

 

Chengtun also agreed to defer the maturity date of the loan until 26 February 2020, to accommodate the delay in 

the Scheme timetable and the higher aggregate loan amount. As at the date of this report, an additional 

A$1,500,000 has been drawn by the Company since 30 June 2019 under this agreement. Tembo Capital has 

similarly agreed to defer the maturity date of its loan until 26 February 2020.  The Company confirms that no 

amounts have been drawn down under the Tembo Capital loan as of the date of this report. A supplementary 

disclosure to the Scheme Booklet was issued to shareholders of the Company on the 1st of August 2019 setting 

out these changes. 

 

The shareholders meeting to approve the Scheme of Arrangement was held by the Company on 19th of August 

2019 where the Scheme was approved to proceed by Shareholders. 
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The Scheme remains subject to the receipt of the PRC Regulatory Approvals, and the completion of a permit 

transfer process in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. On 5th of September 2019, the Company provided a 

further update to the market on the status of the Scheme of Arrangement. Nzuri requested the Supreme Court of  

 

Western Australia (Court) adjourn the Court hearing for the approval of the Scheme (Approval Hearing) and the 

Court made order granting his request and adjourning the Approval Hearing until 2.15pm (WST) on Friday, 11 

October 2019. The updated indicative timetable for the Scheme as at the date of this Report is as follows:  

 

• Approval Hearing Friday, 11 October 2019  

• Effective Date Last day of trading in Nzuri shares on ASX Monday, 14 October 2019  

• Record Date for determining entitlements to the Scheme consideration Thursday, 17 October 2019  

• Implementation Date for the Scheme Payment of the Scheme consideration Thursday, 24 October 2019 
 

The above dates are indicative only. The conditions precedent to the Scheme must be either satisfied or waived 

prior to the Approval Hearing. Any changes to the above timetable will be announced through ASX and notified on 

the Nzuri website. 
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ADDITIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE INFORMATION 
AS AT 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

Additional information included in accordance with the Listing Rules of the Australian Securities Exchange and 

not shown elsewhere in the report is as follows: 

 

NUMBER OF HOLDINGS OF QUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES 

 

The Company has one class of quoted equity securities: its ordinary fully paid shares. 

 

The fully paid issued capital of the Company consisted of 295,905,492 ordinary fully paid shares held by 1,125 

shareholders. Each share entitles the holder to one vote. On a show of hands every member present at a meeting 

in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have one vote. 

 

DISTRIBUTION OF SHARE HOLDERS 

 

Spread of holdings Holders Shares % of Issued 

Capital 

1 -1,000  163 24,014 0.008% 

1,001 -5,000  428 1,245,143 0.421% 

5,001 -10,000  182 1,405,851 0.475% 

10,001 -100,000  287 10,000,427 3.380% 

100,001 -9,999,999  65 283,230,057 95.716% 

TOTAL 1,125 295,905,492 100.00% 

    

Unmarketable parcels Minimum parcel 

size 
Holders Units 

Minimum $500 parcel  

at $0.265 per unit 
1,886 249 154,987 

 

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

 

The names of substantial shareholders the Company is aware of from the register, or who have notified the 

Company in accordance with Section 671B of the Corporations Act are: 

 

Substantial shareholder Number of shares % Held 

Ndovu Capital VI BV 143,592,144 48.53% 

Huayou International Mining (Hong Kong) Limited 43,362,002 14.65% 
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS OF QUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES 

 

 Shareholder Number of shares % Held 

1. Ndovu Capital VI BV 143,592,144 48.53% 

2. Huayou International Mining (Hong Kong) Limited 43,362,002 14.65% 

3. HSBC Custody Nominees 18,923,565 6.40% 

4. La Generale Industrielle et Commerciale au Congo SARL 11,103,739 3.75% 

5. BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd 10,047,424 3.39% 

6. JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 7,772,830 2.63% 

7. Exploration Capital Partners 7,100,070 2.40% 

8. Mark Arnesen 5,389,808 1.82% 

9. BPM Capital Limited 4,500,180 1.52% 

10. Citicorp Nominees 2,995,108 1.01% 

11. Mr Shanfu Huang 2,321,217 0.78% 

12. Bankes Holdings Limited 2,058,824 0.70% 

13. Mrs Sara Brownell 1,822,691 0.62% 

14. Mr Gabriel Berra 1,814,009 0.61% 

15. Mrs Karen Silbert 1,605,000 0.54% 

16. National Nominees Limited 1,242,980 0.42% 

17. Mr Hossein Sabet 1,216,215 0.41% 

18. Deric Holdings Pty Ltd 1,190,000 0.40% 

19. Mrs Sri Adhithiyah Ashok 1,037,345 0.35% 

20. Mr Jacob Klaas Goeree 1,000,000 0.34% 

 Top 20 Total 270,095,151 91.28% 
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UNQUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES 

 

The Company's only other class of equity securities on issue are unquoted options. The Company has a total of 

13,733,379 unquoted options on issue, comprised of the following: 

 

Class Exercise 
price 

Expiry date Number Holders 

NZCAA  $0.9000 6 July 2021 2,000,000 1 

NZCAB 
ESOP 

$0.2055 21 September 2026 (partially unvested) 2,000,000 1 

NZCAR 
ESOP  

$0.2130 14 November 2026 (partially unvested) 3,000,000 2 

ESOP $0.1996 6 September 2027 (unvested) 500,000 1 

Options $0.1996 6 September 2027 (unvested) 500,000 1 

Options $0.3041 1 March 2028 (partially unvested) 945,000 1 

Options $0.3395 4 April 2028 (partially unvested) 675,470 1 

Options $0.3395 16 July 2028 (partially unvested) 1,403,760 2 

Options $0.2492 25 July 2028 (partially unvested) 1,250,000 1 

TOTAL   12,274,230 11 

 

There are no voting rights attached to any class of options.  

 

ON-MARKET BUY-BACK 

 

The Company does not have a current on-market buy-back.  

 

 

MINING TENEMENT SCHEDULE 
 

 

Project/tenement Location Held at 

30 June 2019 

Kalongwe Project: PE12198 The Democratic Republic of the Congo 85% 

FBTJV PR688 The Democratic Republic of the Congo 90% 

FBTJV PR689 The Democratic Republic of the Congo 90% 

FBTJV PR690 The Democratic Republic of the Congo 90% 

FBTJV PR701 The Democratic Republic of the Congo 90% 

FBTJV PR702 The Democratic Republic of the Congo 90% 
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Competent Persons Statement 
 
Exploration results 

Scientific or technical information in this release that relates to Exploration Results is based on and fairly 
represents information and supporting documentation prepared by Dr Peter Ruxton, the Company’s 
Technical Director. Dr Peter Ruxton is a member of the Metals, Minerals and Mining (MIMMM) and a 
Fellow of the Geological Society of London (FGS) and has sufficient experience which is relevant to the 
style of mineralisation under consideration and to the activity which they are undertaking to qualify as a 
Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves” (the JORC Code). Dr Peter Ruxton consents to the 
inclusion in this report of the information, in the form and context in which it appears. 
 
Mineral resources 

Scientific or technical information in this release that relates to the Mineral Resource estimate for the 
Kalongwe Project was first released by the Company in its ASX announcement entitled ‘Upgraded 
JORC Resource at Kalongwe 302,000t Copper and 42,700t Cobalt’ dated 5 February 2015. The 
Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the 
information included in the original market announcement and that all the material assumptions and 
technical parameters underpinning the estimates in the relevant market announcement continue to 
apply and have not materially changed. 
 
Ore reserve 

Scientific or technical information in this release relating to the Kalongwe Cu-Co Deposit reserve 
estimate is extracted from the Company’s ASX announcement entitled ‘Updated stage 1 feasibility study 
delivers significantly enhanced financial returns’ dated 16th April 2018. The Company confirms that it is 
not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information included in the original 
market announcement and that all the material assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the 
estimates in the relevant market announcement continue to apply and have not materially changed 
 

Production targets  

The information in this release relating to the Kalongwe Cu-Co production targets and forecast financial 
information derived from those production targets, are extracted from the Company’s ASX 
announcement entitled ‘Updated stage 1 feasibility study delivers significantly enhanced financial 
returns’ dated 16 April 2018. The Company confirms that all the material assumptions underpinning the 
production targets and the forecast financial information in the original market announcement continue 
to apply and have not materially changed.  
 
Exploration Target 

Scientific or technical information in this release that relates to the Exploration Target for Monwezi 2 is 
based on and fairly represents information and supporting documentation prepared by Dr Peter Ruxton, 
the Company’s Technical Director. Dr Peter Ruxton is a member of the Metals, Minerals and Mining 
(MIMMM) and a Fellow of the Geological Society of London (FGS) and has sufficient experience which 
is relevant to the style of mineralisation under consideration and to the activity which they are 
undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the “Australasian Code 
for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves” (the JORC Code). Dr Peter 
Ruxton consents to the inclusion in this report of the information, in the form and context in which it 
appears 
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Forward-looking Statements 
This release contains statements that are "forward-looking". Generally, the words "expect," "intend," 
"estimate," "will" and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements.  
 
By their very nature, forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks and 
uncertainties that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements, or that of our industry, 
to differ materially from those expressed or implied in any of our forward-looking statements.  
 
Statements in this release regarding the Company's business or proposed business, which are not 
historical facts, are "forward looking" statements that involve risks and uncertainties, such as estimates 
and statements that describe the Company's future plans, objectives or goals, including words to the 
effect that the Company or management expects a stated condition or result to occur.  
 
Since forward-looking statements address future events and conditions, by their very nature, they 
involve inherent risks and uncertainties. Actual results in each case could differ materially from those 
currently anticipated in such statements. Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements, which speak only as of the date they are made. 
 

Cautionary Statement – Preliminary Economic Analysis  

The information in this report that relates to the Preliminary Economic Analysis for Stage 2 of the 

Kalongwe Project is extracted from the Company’s ASX announcement entitled ‘Updated stage 1 

feasibility study delivers significantly enhanced financial returns’ dated 16 April 2018’ (Announcement). 

The Preliminary Economic Analysis was undertaken to assess potential options for the Kalongwe Stage 

2 Project, focused on leaching/SX-EW processing options for the deposit. It is a preliminary technical 

and economic study of the potential viability of Stage 2 of the Kalongwe Project. It is based on low level 

technical and economic assessments that are not sufficient to support the estimation of ore reserves in 

addition to the existing ore reserve estimate of the Company for Stage 1 of the Project. Further 

engineering, testwork and mine planning are required before the Company will be able to estimate any 

additional ore reserves or to provide any assurance of an economic development case for Stage 2.  

The Preliminary Economic Analysis is based on the material assumptions outlined in the 

Announcement. These include assumptions about the availability of funding. While the Company 

considers all the material assumptions to be based on reasonable grounds, there is no certainty that 

they will prove to be correct or that the range of outcomes indicated by the Preliminary Economic 

Analysis will be achieved. To achieve the range of outcomes indicated in the preferred Preliminary 

Economic Analysis option, external funding of in the order of $53 million will likely be required. Investors 

should note that there is no certainty that Nzuri will be able to raise that amount of funding when needed. 

It is also possible that such funding may only be available on terms that may be dilutive to or otherwise 

affect the value of Nzuri’s existing shares.  

The Company is in a strong financial position with no debt, its Board has a positive financing track-

record with the Company, and its substantial shareholders include a supportive institutional fund in 

Tembo Capital (comprised of Tembo Capital Mining Fund LP and Ndovu Capital VI B.V), and a 

subsidiary of Huayou Cobalt, which is an integrated industrial business incorporating copper/cobalt 

mining, processing and refining essential to the downstream production of Li-ion batteries, and has 

extensive experience operating in the DRC. The Company also has a declared Ore Reserve estimate 

for Stage 1 of its Kalongwe Project and has engaged in discussions for several potential offtake 

customers. On this basis, successful delivery of development milestones, including a feasibility study 

for Stage 2 with appropriate economic metrics, is expected to support ongoing convergence of the 

Company's market capitalization with its future funding requirements. The Board therefore considers  
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that it has a reasonable basis to expect that the Project's development capital costs for Stage 2 could 

be funded following the completion of the proposed feasibility study. Further, the Company anticipates 

that the capital costs for Stage 2, which is due to commence 8 years following commencement of Stage 

1, will be funded from production during Stage 1. It is also possible that Nzuri could pursue other ‘value 

realization’ strategies such as a sale, partial sale or joint venture of the project. If it does, this could 

materially reduce Nzuri’s proportionate ownership of the project. Nzuri is currently evaluating all possible 

funding and development scenarios and appropriate debt and equity solutions with the aim of 

maximizing shareholder returns. Given the uncertainties involved, investors should not make any 

investment decisions based solely on the results of the Preliminary Economic Analysis. 

Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves Annual Statement and Review  
 
The Company carries out an annual review of its Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves as required by 
the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (the 
JORC Code) 2012 edition and the ASX Listing Rules.  
 
As at 30th June 2018 Ore resource for the Kalongwe project is unchanged to that first released by the 
Company in its ASX announcement entitled ‘Upgraded JORC Resource at Kalongwe 302,000t Copper 
and 42,700t Cobalt’ dated 5 February 2015. And given in the table below. 

 
Table 1: Kalongwe Ore Resource 

 
Notes 
1 The Cu only domains were reported by selecting blocks with Cu >= 0.5%. 
2 The Co only domains were reported by selecting blocks with Co >= 0.2%. 
3 The Mixed Domains (blocks located within overlapping Cu and Co domains) were reported by 
selecting blocks with Cu >= 0.5%. The Co grade from these blocks was also reported. 
4 The total Co tonnes and grade within the Mixed Domain are reported from blocks where Cu>=0.5%, 
and are not additional to the total Cu Mineral Resources quoted from the Mixed Domain. 
5 The total Co tonnes and grade from the Mixed and Co-only Domains are presented as total 
tonnages only, without reference to JORC classification. The tonnes are not additional to the total Cu 
Mineral Resources quoted from the Mixed Domain. 
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The Mineral Resource Estimate and classification was completed by Mr David Williams, a Competent 
Person, who is a Member of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and is employed by 
CSA Global Pty Ltd. The Mineral Resource was classified as a combination of Measured, Indicated and 
Inferred, and is reported in accordance with the 2012 JORC  Code. 
 
As part of the completion of a Feasibility Study (FS) a maiden Ore Reserve was announced in the 
Company’s ASX announcement entitled ‘Kalongwe Stage 1 Feasibility Study Outlines Robust, Low Cost 
Copper-Cobalt Project with Strong Financial Returns’ dated 16th October 2017. The Maiden Ore 
Reserve estimate for Kalongwe is set out below :  
 

Table 2: Maiden 2017 Ore Reserve 

Category 
Total 

Mt Cu % Co % 

Proved 3.52 3.45 0.43 

Probable 3.46 2.61 0.29 

Proved and 
Probable 

6.98 3.03 0.36 

Waste (Mt) 12.57 

Total (Mt) 19.55 

 
 
The Ore Reserve was subsequently upgraded and reported in the Company’s ASX announcement 
entitled ‘Updated Stage 1 Feasibility Study Delivers Significantly Enhanced Financial Returns’ dated 
16th April 2018. The updated Ore Reserve estimate for Kalongwe completed in April 2018 is set out 
below: 
  

Table 3: Updated 2018 Ore Reserve 

Category 
Total 

Mt Cu % Co % 

Proved 3.58 3.42% 0.43% 

Probable 4.41 2.56% 0.27% 

Proved and 
Probable 

7.99 2.94% 0.34% 

Waste (Mt) 16.645 

Total (Mt) 24.631 

 
 
Scientific or technical information in this release that relates to the Ore Reserve estimate for the 
Kalongwe Project is based on and fairly represents information and supporting documentation prepared 
by Mr Ross Cheyne. Mr Ross Cheyne who is employed by Orelogy Consulting Pty Ltd as a Principal 
Consultant and Managing Director. Orelogy Consulting Pty Ltd is an independent mine planning 
consultancy based in Perth, Western Australia. Mr Cheyne is a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of 
Mining and Metallurgy and a Competent Person as defined by the 2012 JORC Code.  
As of 30thJune 2018 the Company is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the 
information included in this Annual Statement and confirms that all material assumptions and technical 
parameters underpinning the estimates in the relevant market announcement continue to apply and 
have not materially changed.  
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Estimation Governance Statement  
 
The Company ensures that all Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve calculations are subject to 
appropriate levels of governance and internal controls. Exploration Results are collected and managed 
by competent qualified geologists and overseen by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer.  
 
All data collection activities are conducted to industry standards based on a framework of quality 
assurance and quality control protocols covering all aspects of sample collection, topographical and 
geophysical surveys, drilling, sample preparation, physical and chemical analysis and data and sample 
management.  
 
Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve estimates are prepared by qualified independent Competent 
Persons and further verified by the Company’s Competent Person. If there is a material change in the 
estimate of a Mineral Resource, the modifying factors for the preparation of Ore Reserves, or reporting 
an inaugural Mineral Resource or Ore Reserve, the estimate and supporting documentation in question 
is reviewed by a suitably qualified independent Competent Person. 

 


